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      Mission Statement 
 

Faithful to our tradition, we provide the highest possible standard of care and treatment in a 
professional and compassionate manner to every person who avails of our services
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            Foreword 
 
             
 
 
 
 
 
 
I am pleased as Chairman of the Board of 
Governors and of the Management 
Committee to provide this Foreword to the 
Annual Report and Accounts for the year 
2008.  
 
The Hospital’s financial performance 
during 2008 resulted in an under spend of 
€40,000 at year end, compared with an 
over spend of €49,000 in 2007.  We had to 
close the Ground Floor for a large part of 
the year due to financial constraints and 
the H.S.E. embargo on the employment of 
locum and agency staff. The on-going 
difficulties in securing funding owed to the 
Hospital by the H.S.E. Mid-West 
continued in to 2008 and resulted in an 
Extra-Ordinary Meeting of the Board of 
Governors being held on 5 February 2008. 
Confirmation that funding due would be 
paid was finally received in November and 
allowed St. John’s to avoid an overrun in 
2008.  
 
Prof. Brendan Drumm, C.E.O. of the 
Health Services Executive, and members 
of his management team visited St. John’s 
on 20 August 2008. Prof. Drumm and his 
colleagues outlined the general approach 
being taken to the realignment of hospital 
and health services in the Mid-West 
Network.  
 
The hospital representatives clearly 
outlined the positive role that St. John’s 
can play going forward. We also outlined 
our views and disappointment at the way 
the H.S.E. had handled some matters to 
date in its dealing with the hospital, 
particularly in relation to inadequate 
communication and delays in paying 
funding due to the hospital.  
The Management Committee agreed to a 
H.S.E. request in August 2008 to second 

Mr. Paul Burke, Consultant Surgeon, to 
the Acute Services Review/Reconfigur-
ation Project for an initial 3-month period 
and subsequently agreed to extend this 
secondment. This is concrete evidence of 
St. John’s commitment to the development 
and provision of hospital services in the 
region. 
 
The individual Departmental Reports 
outline the many activities and positive 
developments during the year. 
 
Our Accreditation Award was presented 
by the Health Information & Quality 
Authority on 11 November 2008. The 
hospital received a “good” rating in the 4th 
Hygiene Service Quality Review in 
December. St. John’s was part of the Mid-
Western Hospital Group which was 
awarded ISO 15189 Accreditation by the 
Irish National Accreditation Board on 9 
December for blood transfusion. The 
hospital also underwent successful 
inspections by the Irish Medicines Board 
on 20 June and by the Radiological 
Protection Institute of Ireland on 18 June. 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee, 
I would like to thank the management and 
staff of the Hospital for their continued 
dedication and commitment. I would also 
like to thank the Friends of St. John’s 
Hospital and our Patient Partnership 
Forum for their on-going support and 
assistance to the hospital. 

 
+Donal Murray, D.D.,  
Bishop of Limerick  
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Report for Year Ending 31 December 2008 
 
 
This Annual Report for the year ending 31 December 2008 gives details of financial 
performance and activity levels for both 2008 and 2007.  The activity statistics are extracted 
from those submitted to the Performance Monitoring Unit, Health Service Executive.  The 
financial details are taken from the Audited Accounts and a copy of the Audited Accounts is 
reproduced in Chapter 5.   
 
 
ACTIVITY 
Individual departments have included reports on activity in their own areas and all activity 
statistics are shown in Chapter 4. 
 
 
FINANCIAL 
The comparable figures for 2008 and 2007, under the headings of overall expenditure and 
income, are shown hereunder.  The accumulated deficit at 31 December 2007 was €49,000 
which was brought forward as a first charge against 2008.  Despite the funding restrictions put in 
place by the Health Service Executive (H.S.E.), there was an underspend of €40,000 at year end.   
 
The increase in allocation from the H.S.E. mainly relates to nationally agreed pay increases and 
to arrears due from the H.S.E. Mid-West.  
 

 
 

 
2008 

 
2007 

 
% Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

 
SURPLUS)/DEFICIT B/F FROM 
PREVIOUS YEAR 
 
SALARIES/WAGES 
 
GOODS/SERVICES 
 
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
 
INCOME  
 
NET EXPENDITURE 
 
ALLOCATION FROM 
HEALTH SERVICE EXECUTIVE 
 
(SURPLUS)/DEFICIT 

 
 

49 
 

23,010 
 

7,893 
 

30,952 
 

5,283 
 

25,669 
 
 

25,709 
 

(40) 

 
 

58 
 

22,608 
 

7,696 
 

30,362 
 

7,144 
 

23,218 
 
 

23,169 
 

49 

 
 
 
 

1.78% 
 

2.56% 
 

1.94% 
 

(26.05%) 
 

10.56% 
 
 

10.96% 

 
 
SALARIES AND WAGES 
Salaries and wages increased by €0.402m (1.78%) over 2007, mainly as a result of salary 
increases under the Towards 2016 pay agreement, increased pensioners in 2008 and costs related 
to a consultant secondment which were refunded by the HSE. 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

GOODS AND SERVICES 
The overall cost of goods and services increased by €197,000 (2.56%), mainly as a result of an 
increase in the cost of the cleaning contract and the purchase of medical equipment. Areas where 
significant changes occurred, were:- 
 

 2008 
€’000 

2007 
€’000 

% Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

BLOOD & BLOOD PRODUCTS 315 256 23% 
OTHER MEDICAL EQUIPMENT  198 0  
MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 
SUPPLIES/CONTRACTS 

587 515 14% 

HEAT, POWER & LIGHT 277 234 18% 
LAUNDRY, CLEANING & WASHING 779 706 10% 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 44 12 267% 

 
 Blood & Blood Products expenditure increased due to increased charges for tests and  

products and a number of specific high cost treatments that arose during the year. 
 Significant medical equipment was purchased from revenue in 2008 e.g. Theatre Lights 

and Anaesthetic Equipment. 
 Medical equipment contracts included a new maintenance contract on endoscopy equipment. 
 Heat, Power & Light increased due to the increased cost of electricity and gas. 
 Expenditure on Cleaning & Washing increased due to the full year cost in 2008 of the new 

cleaning contract which commenced in August 2007and to meet new hygiene standards. 
 Professional Services included engineering fees in relation to new air-conditioning systems 

in Theatre and I.C.U. 
 
INCOME 
Income decreased by €1.861m (26%) in 2008. The main areas where significant changes 
occurred were:- 
 

  
2008 

 
€’000 

 
2007 

 
€’000 

 
% Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

 

Other Income (Non-Capital) (731) 1,017 (172%) 
Private/Semi-Private Charges 4,358 4,553 (4%) 

 
 Other Income for 2007 included €1m funding from the H.S.E. Mid-West in relation to 

Breast Surgery, Nephrology, Accident & Emergency, Cardiovascular and Blood 
Products. The equivalent 2008 income is included in our allocation from the Health 
Service Executive. 
From 2004 to 2007 the Other Income in the Financial Statements included €1.005m that 
was due from the HSE Mid-West for Nephrology and Breast Surgery. This funding was 
eventually received in 2008 but as part of our 2008 allocation from the Health Service 
Executive. In order to include the €1.005m in our allocation figure we had to reduce our 
Other Income figure by the same amount, resulting in a negative Other Income figure in 
2008. 

 
 Private/Semi-Private income decreased due to the number of public patients occupying 

private/semi-private beds, primarily as a result of the closure of the Ground Floor. 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Prompt Payment of Accounts Act – Statement 
Payments to suppliers are made within thirty days of receipt of the invoice or delivery of the 
goods or services, whichever is the later, unless an alternative payment period is specified in an 
agreed contract.  
 
In 2008, there were 14 late payments totalling €30,165 which attracted interest on late payments 
of €157.  These late payments equalled 0.3% of total non-pay expenditure during 2008. 
 
 
HOSPITAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
Major Capital Development  
There was no progress on the proposed major capital development of St. John’s Hospital in 
2008.  The Review of Acute Hospital Services in the Mid-West took place in early/mid 2007 
but the review group’s report had not been published at the end of 2008. 
 
As in previous years, the hospital continued in 2008 to carry out a programme of minor 
capital works and equipment replacement with capital funding from the Health Services 
Executive to continue to improve the hospital’s facilities. Minor capital projects completed in 
2008 included: 
 
Top Floor and Theatre Refurbishment 
The Minor Capital Funding received in 2008 was used to refurbish the Main Theatre suite 
and the Top Floor of the hospital. 
 
The Main Operating Theatre was upgraded in August and September. Two new theatres of 
equal size were fitted out, new scrub-up areas were provided and the recovery room was 
refurbished to modern standards. The theatre walls were lead-lined, in keeping with current 
radiation protection requirements, and then covered in a washable material called “white-
rock”. New coved floor-covering was provided throughout the Theatre, new Theatre lights 
were provided and the ventilation system was also upgraded. All theatre activity was carried 
out in the Day Care Unit for the duration of the work in theatre 
 
The Wards, bathrooms, ward kitchen, sluice room and ward office on the Top Floor were all 
upgraded in 2008. All sinks were replaced. New radiators were installed. All previously tiled 
surfaces were replaced by white-rock. New coved floor covering was provided throughout 
and old window sills were replaced, using washable material. Bathrooms replicated the 
Ground Floor model, in that ‘wet rooms’ replaced the conventional showers thereby 
providing easily washable surfaces and allowing better access for our patients. 
 
The Ground Floor of the hospital had been closed in 2008 due to budgetary constraints and it 
was possible to move all activity from the Top Floor, including the Intensive Care Unit, down 
to the Ground Floor to facilitate this work.  
 
The co-operation of all staff, particularly the Theatre, Day Care Unit, Intensive Care Unit and 
Top Floor staff, in ensuring continuity of service to our patients while these works were being 
carried out is much appreciated. Thanks is also due to all members of staff involved in the 
planning and supervision of these projects. 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Equipment Purchases 
Major items of equipment purchased in 2008, included a Video Gastroscope and a Video 
Bronchoscope for the Endoscopy Unit, two Infusion Workstations for the Theatre, Loading 
trolleys for CSSD, an anaesthetic ultrasound system and an electrosurgical unit.  
 
ACCREDITATION 
 
The Hospital was once again awarded accreditation status in April 2008 following the 
accreditation survey in October 2007.  The awarding body on this occasion was the Health 
Information & Quality Authority (H.I.Q.A.).  The award was presented in the hospital on 
11th November 2008 and accepted by Mr. R. M. Keane on behalf of the Management 
Committee. St. John’s was the first public hospital to be accredited under this Scheme in 
2003 by the Irish Health Services Accreditation Board and is also the first hospital to have 
been re-accredited under the Scheme.   
 
The success in achieving both awards was due to the commitment and dedication of all staff, 
our external partners and our patient representatives.   
 
SURVEYS & INSPECTIONS 
St. John’s also performed well in the 4th Hygiene Services Review in December, achieved 
accreditation as part of the Mid-Western Hospital Group Blood Bank from the Irish National 
Accreditation Board and underwent successful inspections by the Irish Medicine Board 
(Blood Bank) and the Radiological Protection Institute of Ireland (X-Ray service).  
 
PARTNERSHIP INITIATIVES 
Patient Partnership 
The Hospital’s Patient Partnership Forum set up in 2007 was very active in 2008 and we 
thank them for their work in reviewing many aspects of patient services and identifying 
quality improvement initiatives. 
  
APPOINTMENTS/RETIREMENTS 
Appointments and retirements are listed under each Service/Department. 
 
THANKS 
Sincere thanks is extended to all of the staff for their continued co-operation and commitment at 
all times. 
 
FRIENDS OF ST. JOHN’S FUNDRAISING COMMITTEE 
The Hospital thanks its supporters and the Friends of St. John’s Hospital Fundraising Committee 
for their on-going support and commitment in assisting to raise funds for the Hospital. 
 
 
 
 
 

_____________________ 
John Cummins 
Acting Chief Executive/ 
Deputy Chief Executive 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

 

Governance Structure  
 
 
 
 
 

St. John's Hospital:  Integrated Management Structure (I.M.S.) 
Focusing on Quality and Accreditation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 
(June 2007 –Version 9) 

Management Committee 
Ethics 

Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Care Service 
 

Team Leaders x 3 
 

Clinical Services Co-
Ordinator 

 

Quality Co-Ordinator 
 

Laboratory Accreditation 
Co-Ordinator 

 

Patient Representative 

Leadership & Partnership 
 

Strategy Group 
 

Management Committee 
Accreditation Nominee 

 

Deputy Chief Executive/ 
I.M.S. Co-Ordinator 

 

Patient Representative 
 
 
 
 
 

Medical OMG 
Nursing OMG 

AHP OMG 

Clerical/Administrative & 
Support Services O.M.G.’s 

Patient Partnership Forum 

OMG Reps X 3 

Care Support Services 
 

Human Resources Mngt. Team Leader 
 

Information Mngt. Team Leader 
 

P.P.G. Chairperson 
 

Environ. & Facilities Mngt. Team Leader 
 

Risk Manager 
 

H&S Chairperson 
 

Patient Representative 
 
 
 OMG Reps X 2 

Integrated Service Units

Focus Group

Medical 
Board 

Chief Executive

Board of Governors 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Board of Governors 
 
 
Chairman 
Bishop of Limerick    Most Rev. Donal Murray, D.D.  
 
 
Members (Ex-Officio) 
Mayor of Limerick (Jan. – June 2007)  His Worship Cllr. Ger Fahy  
Mayor of Limerick (July – Dec. 2007)  His Worship Cllr. John Gilligan  
Administrator,  
St. John’s Parish   (Jan. – Aug. 2008)  Very Rev. D. Mullane  
       (Sept. – Dec. 2008)  Very Rev. A. McNamara  
St. Mary’s Parish    Very Rev. D. O’Malley, P.P.  
St. Michael’s Parish    Very Rev. N. Kirwan, P.P.  
St. Munchin’s Parish    Very Rev. M. Canon Liston, P.P.  
St. Patrick’s Parish    Very Rev. E. Irwin, P.P.  
 
 
L.C.M. Nominees:    Sr. Margaret Hennessy  
      Sr. Mary Morrisroe  
  
 
Limerick City Council Nominees:  Cllr. Kevin Kiely  
      Cllr. Gerry McLoughlin  
      Cllr. Kieran O’Hanlon  
      Cllr. Kieran Walsh  
 
 
Life Governors    P.E. Burke, BSc., M.D., F.R.C.S., F.R.C.S.I.  
      G.L. Cantillon, M.Ch.  
      Brendan Conroy, M.D., F.F.A.R.C.S.I.  
      Morgan Costelloe, M.B., B.Ch., B.A.O.  

Cornelius J. Cronin, M.B., B.Ch., F.R.C.P.I.  
Peter N. Faul, M.B., M.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.Path.  
Joseph G. Geary, F.C.A., A.I.T.I.  
Sr. Mary Hassett  
Josephine Hennessy  
Patricia Humphreys, M.B., F.F.A.R.C.S.I.  
Raphael Keane, B.A., M.Ch., F.R.C.S.I. 
Fasih Khan, M.B., B.S., F.F.A.R.C.S.I. 
John T. Leahy, M.B., F.R.C.P.I.  
Joseph Lee, M.B., M.S., F.F.A.R.C.S.I. 
Mary McCarthy  
John McCormack, M.B., F.F.A.R.C.S.I. 
Anne McMahon, M.D., F.R.C.P.I., D.CH.  
Dermot Molony, M.B., M.A.O., F.R.C.O.G.  
Eithne Mulloy, M.B., F.F.C.P.I . 
J.P. Roche Esq.  
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

 

 Management Committee 
 
 
Chairman 
Bishop of Limerick    Most Rev. Donal Murray, D.D.  
 
 
Members 
Mayor of Limerick (Jan. – June 2008)  His Worship Cllr. Ger Fahy  
Mayor of Limerick (July – Dec. 2008)  His Worship Cllr. John Gilligan  
 
Administrator,  
St. John’s Parish   (Jan. – Aug. 2008)   Very Rev. D. Mullane  
       (Sept. – Dec. 2008)   Very Rev. A. McNamara 
 
Little Company of Mary:   Sr. Margaret Hennessy  
      Sr. Mary Morrisroe  
 
Medical Board Nominee:   Mr. Ralph Keane, B.A., M.Ch., F.R.C.S.I.  
 
Medical Board Elected Representative: Dr. Fasih Khan, M.B., B.S., F.F.A.R.C.S.I. 
 
Lay Member:     J.P. Roche Esq. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive:    Tim Kennelly 
 
Deputy Chief Executive:  John Cummins 
 
Director of Nursing:  Kay Hogan   
 
Chaplain:  Rev. Fr. Austin McNamara  
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Senior Medical Staff 
 
 

 

ANAESTHETISTS:  Joseph G. Lee, MB, MS, FFARCSI 
    Brendan Conroy, MB, FFARCSI 
    Fasih Khan, MB, BS, FFARCSI  
    *John Kennedy, MB, FFARCSI   
    *P.J. Breen, MB, FFARCSI  
    *Richard McEllistrem, MB, FFARCSI  
 
CONSULTANT IN     
EMERGENCY MEDICINE: *Gareth Quin, MRCPI, FRCS(Ed), FFAEM  
 
E.N.T. SURGEON:  *Kevin P. Manning, LRCP&SI, FRCSI, FRCS 
 
GASTROENTEROLOGIST: *Maeve Skelly, PhD, F.R.C.P.I. 
  
 
GYNAECOLOGISTS: Catherine M. Casey, MRCOG, MRCPI, Dip.PST, DCH 
 *Una Fahy, MD, MRCOG 
 *Rudi Van Huyssteen, MB,ChB,M.Med(O&G),FRCOG (SA)  
    
ORAL & MAXILLO-   
FACIAL SURGEON: *Gerard J. Kearns, MB, B.Dent.Sc, FDS, FFD, FRCS 
 
PAEDIATRICIAN:  *Liam Carroll,MB,BCh,BAO,MRCP.(U.K.) 
 
PATHOLOGISTS:  Peter N. Faul, MB, MRCPI, FRCPath.    
 *Maeve Leahy, MD, FRCP, FRCPath.  
 *Nuala O’Connell, MB, BCh, BAO, MSc, MRCPath.MD. 
 *Denis O’Keeffe, MB, MRCPath.  
   
PHYSICIANS:  Cornelius J. Cronin, MB, BCh, FRCPI 
   Eithne M.T. Mulloy, FRCPI 
   *Liam Casserly, MB, MRCPI 
 Heather Holloway, FRCPI (sessional) 
  
RADIOLOGISTS: **Sean Conway LRCPI,LRCSI,DCH,D.Obst,FFRAD(D) 
SA  
    **Piotr Nowak, MD Warsaw Poland 
    **George Osler, MB ChB Stellenbosch 
     
SURGEONS:   Paul E. Burke, BSc, MD, FRCS, FRCSI  
    Raphael M. Keane, BA, MCh, FRCSI 
    *Anne Merrigan, FRCSI 
    **Louis Falke, M.D., Specialist Register I.M.C. Surgery 
    
 
*    Denotes sessional commitments from Consultants holding their contracts with the H.S.E.    

 Mid-Western Regional Hospital 
**  Denotes temporary contracts
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Departmental Reports  
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Accident & Emergency/Out-Patients 
 
 
Consultant in Emergency Medicine: 
Dr. Gareth Quin (sessional) 

A&E Medical Staff:    
Dr. Ursula Whelan-Burke 

Clinical Nurse Manager 2:   
Ms. Eileen O’Connor (Part-time) 

Clinical Nurse Manager 1:   
Ms. Mary Blewitt (Job-sharing) 
Ms. Anne McCarthy (Job-sharing) 
 
 
Activity 
Total number of patients seen in the 
Accident & Emergency during 2008 was 
18,675. 
 
 
Audits 
Audits conducted included:  
 Hygiene  
 Triage  
 Medical Records Documentation   
 Audit of Laboratory Investigations 
 Hand Hygiene Audit 

Quality Initiatives 
Cardiac Arrest Team – A&E Registrar and 
A&E Nurse on Team.   
 
New seating purchased for waiting areas 
 
 
Continuous Professional Development 
Study Days attended included: 
 Triage  
 Advanced Cardiac Life Support  
 Child Protection Sessions 
 Venepuncture 
 
 
Appointments 
Ms. Elaine McInerney, CNM 1  
Ms. Julie O’Sullivan, CNM 1 
Ms. Carrie Noonan, CNM 1  
Ms. Jennifer Morrison, Ward Clerk  
Mr. Richard Mason, Porter 
Mr. Edward Bourke, Porter 
 
 
Retirement 
Ms. Mary Blewitt CNM 1 
 
 

 
____________________ 



St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Administration 
  
 
Chief Executive:    
Mr. Tim Kennelly 

Deputy Chief Executive:   
Mr. John Cummins 

Mngt. Information Services  
Co-ordinator/Accreditation Manager: 
Ms. Patricia Keeshan  

Financial Controller:    
Mr. Michael Corcoran 

Quality Co-ordinator:   
Ms. Kathleen Lynch  
  
 

Patient Partnership Forum  
The Patient Partnership Forum was very 
active during 2008 and continued to hold 
meetings on a two-monthly basis. At the 
outset, the Forum requested that Hygiene 
be a standing order on the Agenda.  The 
Forum agreed to conduct hygiene walk-
abouts and they established a rota for 
same.  Their feedback was integrated into 
quality improvement initiatives. A 
member of the Forum was invited by the 
Chairperson of the Hygiene Services 
Committee to join the Committee.    
 
The Forum was invited to review and 
improve current patient services and 
identified the following quality 
improvement initiatives, which were 
implemented:- 
 Hygiene awareness  
 Involvement in development of I.C.U. 

Relative Information Booklet   
 Review of Hospital Signage 
 Introduction of drinks and snack 

vending machines in A&E  
 Notices in wards with general infor-

mation - visiting times, rest hour, 
shop, chaplaincy service, hygiene 
services, Doctors rounds and daily 
menu 

 Revision of visiting hours  
 Introduction of bath and shower mats 
 Enhancement of in-patient night 

snack 
 

 
Mr. Tim Kennelly, Chief Executive met 
with the Forum on a number of occasions 
during 2008 regarding budgetary 
constraints and service provision/develop- 
ments.  Information regarding results of 
inspections and audits were shared with 
the Forum e.g. H.I.Q.A. Continuous 
Quality Improvement and Safety 
Framework Report and Hygiene Services 
Scheme Assessment Report.   
 
Patient/Service User Involvement - 
Patient Focus Groups 
Service user feedback, as part of the 
Hospital’s quality programme, continued 
to be sought in 2008 through conducting 
further Patient Focus Groups by external 
facilitators. 90 patients attended these 
groups.  The facilitators outlined “that 
since this process began end 
2005/beginning 2006, many positive 
changes and service improvements have 
been implemented by the Hospital”.     
The findings from the groups were fed 
back to management and staff.  This 
feedback was also integrated into quality 
improvement activities within the 
Hospital to enhance patient participation 
in their own care.  Examples cited 
included the elimination of medical 
jargon and feeling actively involved in 
discharge planning.  
 
Audit and Research 
Audit and Research activity continued 
during 2008. The Audit & Research 
Committee promoted the implementation 
of evidenced-based multidisciplinary 
audits.  As a result of audits conducted, 
actions plans were implemented which 
has demonstrated an improvement in the 
quality of clinical care improved.  An 
Audit Learning and Sharing Information 
session was held in November to 
disseminate audit findings, highlighting 
areas of good practice and identifying 
areas of practice for further improvement.       
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

National Audits/Inspections 
The Hospital also participated in the 
following National audits/inspections:- 
 
Hygiene Services  
The Hospital achieved an overall rating 
of ‘Good’, which was the highest score 
out of the six hospitals in the region. 
 
Irish Medicine Board 
This confirmed that the Hospital had met 
all current legislative requirements for the 
operation of the Hospital Blood Bank 
 
Irish National Accreditation Board 
Surveyors recommended accreditation of 
Blood Bank facilities in the region, which 
included St. John’s Blood Bank facilities. 
 
Radiological Protection Institute of 
Ireland              
St. John’s passed inspection of our 
diagnostic x-ray facilities by the R.P.I.I. 
in June. 
 
Hospital-wide Quality Initiatives           
Other quality initiatives include:- 
 Tell Us What You Think Cards 
 Patient Information Kiosks 
 Patient Satisfaction Questionnaires 
 Quality Improvement Plans 
 Performance Indicator Programme 
 Complaints Management 
Feedback/information from the above 
programmes is analysed on a quarterly 
basis to facilitate monitoring and review 
of quality and risk management systems 
in place. 
 
Mandatory Training Programmes      
Programmes in place include:- 
 Fire 
 Haemovigilance 
 Hand Hygiene 
 Healthcare Provider Course 
 Intra-Venous Drug Administration 
 Manual Handling 
 Non-Violent Crisis Intervention 
 Office Ergonomics 
 Point of Care Testing 
 Sharps and Blood Borne Virus 

 RateMyHospital.ie 
“Irishhealth.com's 'Rate My Hospital' 
facility gives you the opportunity to tell 
us how the hospital scored under a range 
of different headings. It will help build a 
picture of the level of service offered by 
each hospital and how patient-friendly 
they are. This will not only help patients 
but will also be of benefit to hospitals in 
terms of getting feedback from patients 
and on making improvements where 
necessary”. 
 
In 2008, St. John’s Hospital consistently 
held the No. 1 position on this site.   
 
The site also conducted research on 
Doctors and Nurses attitude to dignity and 
privacy and St. John’s Hospital was 
chosen by patients as the most caring in 
the country.   
 
A further study conducted confirmed that 
St. John’s had the best emergency 
facilities in the country. Facility users 
were asked to rate the services at the 
Hospital on a scale of 1 to 5 under a 
number of heading and St. John’s was 
rated No. 1.    
 
The Hospital was absolutely delighted 
with all of these findings.   
 
 

_____________________ 
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Chaplaincy 
 

 

Ms. Joyce O’Sullivan 
Hospital Chaplain 
 
Ms. Lourda O’Sullivan 
Hospital Chaplain  
 
 
Activity 
The Chaplaincy Department offers 
confidential, sensitive, emotional, and 
spiritual support and care for patients, 
families and staff. During 2008, chaplains 
spent 348.5 hours with families of patients 
who were ill and/or who died in our care. 
Considerable time is also dedicated to staff 
that need support with demands of work 
and personal difficulties. 111.5 hours were 
spent with staff members at various stages 
during 2008. 
 
The chaplains offer support and care in a 
faith context to those struggling to cope 
with illness, personal difficulties, social 
issues, death and bereavement. The 
chaplaincy team attended 53 deaths during 
2008, 33 emergencies, and received 63 
referrals from staff. 
 
They strive to help people in their search 
for meaning and peace as they cope with 
the difficulties of life. 
 
The pastoral care service offered in the 
hospital is inter-denominational. It 
incorporates the ministry of prayer, 
counselling, support and the Sacraments.  
 
During the year, 530 people received the 
Sacrament of the Sick in the hospital.  
 
Pastoral Care is for people of all faiths and 
none. Chaplains liaise with leaders of all 
faiths and can contact them as required.  
 
Patients have the right to receive services 
from chaplains of their own denomination 
and to request or refuse specific services. 
 
 
 

 

 
With accountability and documentation 
playing an important role in the 
department, significant time was spent 
dealing with office duties, such as 
organising bereavement masses, contacting 
suppliers, documenting and recording, etc.  
 
This took up a total of 125.5 hours. 
Meetings  involved 44 hours. 
 

Remembrance and bereavement masses 
are held four times during the year in the 
hospital chapel. Relatives of deceased 
patients and staff are invited to attend with 
refreshments afterwards in canteen. Very 
well attended, with attendance in 2008 of 
185. 
 
Drop-in service currently in place where 
patients, former patients, families and staff 
can call to office for emotional support. In 
2008, 29.5 hours were spent with people 
needing support offered through this drop-
in service. 
 
The chaplaincy department received 26 
telephone calls during the year from 
former patients, relatives of deceased 
patients, and staff members requiring 
support in some way. This was a total of 
15.5 hours. 
 
Support services include pastoral 
care/chaplaincy, external counselling via 
referrals, external support groups. 
 
Sacramental duties included daily Holy 
Communion round; blessing of throats for 
patients and staff on the feast of St. Blaise; 
distribution of ash on Ash Wednesday; 
blessing of hands for staff on World day of 
the Sick; Sacrament of the Sick when 
requested and also for all patients who 
wish to receive on World day of the Sick; 
stations of the cross and veneration of the 
cross on Good Friday; masses for various 
occasions (12 masses were held in the 
hospital chapel during the year); 
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confession (10 patients received 
confession while in-patients). 
 
Results of Inspections/Audits 
Availability of Priest was insufficient. 
Wanted to meet Priest more often and for a  
visit, not just when called. This has been 
rectified with Priest-on-duty now calling in 
the evenings for rounds. 
 
Lack of Bibles in hospital. This has been 
rectified with Bibles now available 
through chaplaincy department on request. 
 
Lack of candles for patients to light and 
say prayers. This has been rectified with 
purchase of new electric candles. 
 
Quality Initiatives/Improvements 
 New bereavement sympathy cards 

which are sent from the chaplaincy 
team to the next of kin following the 
death of a patient. In 2008, 71 
bereavement cards were sent to family 
members of deceased patients 

 Piped music in chapel 
 Mass is available daily on TV’s 

throughout the hospital. The quality of 
such service is currently being updated 

 CDs and tapes available for those 
visually or audibly impaired on topics 
such as death and bereavement, stress, 
prayers 

 Patient information brochures 
regarding pastoral care in the hospital 
available on all floors. These outline 
the chaplaincy services available, staff 
members, how to contact chaplain and 
also other support services available 
e.g. AA, counselling, bereavement 
groups 

 Information leaflets available on all 
floors (on literature stands) regarding 
such issues as death and bereavement, 
coping with loss, stress, depression, 
cancer, and emotional support 

 Chaplains in the department are 
members of the National Association 
of Healthcare Chaplains, the 
professional association; while one 
chaplain is currently serving on the 
executive board of the association  

 Ethics conference attended in May 
 Hospital based courses attended 
 including heart saver CPR, cultural 
 awareness afternoon, fire training, 
 non- handling 
 Charting and documentation workshop 
 attended 
 The art and science of palliative 
 medicine conference attended 
 Dignity in the workplace conference 
 attended 
 Hospice friendly hospitals seminar 
 attended 
 Spiritual assessment workshop 
 attended 

 
 

Issues of Note 
 There is a bereavement room available 

for families of those who have 
died/seriously injured. It is located 
beside the chapel opposite A&E. 

 Bereavement room or chaplaincy 
office can be used for patients, family 
members or staff who need to discuss 
issues in privacy. It is used for the 
issuing of death certificates on 
occasion where privacy is needed and 
also by Gardai for confidential and 
sensitive matters. 

 
Service Plans for 2009 
 Book of Remembrance to be made 

available at the bereavement masses 
for people to sign, record thoughts and 
remember their loved ones. 

 A book of Daily Intentions is to be 
made available in the hospital Chapel 
for people to sign for their private 
intentions. 

 Education sessions to be held during 
the year for staff on topics such as 
“pastoral care and chaplaincy-an 
overview”, “dealing with our emotions 
effectively”, “death and bereavement”, 
“how to listen to the dying”. 

 Bereavement Mass to be held during 
the year for staff who have been 
recently bereaved. 
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Day Care Unit/Medical Assessment Unit (M.A.U.) 
 
 
Clinical Nurse Manager 2:   
Ms. Fiona Kelly (Day Care Unit/M.A.U.) 

CNM1:   
Ms. Joan Meaney (Ward/Endoscopy) 
Ms. Vivienne Dee (Day Theatre) 
Ms. Noelle Cregan (Day Care Unit/ 
M.A.U.) 

Medical Registrar: 
Dr. Ali Kheir (M.A.U.) 
 
Activity 
Medicine: Therapeutic Venesections 
took place once weekly under the care of 
a Gastroenterologist. 
 
Endoscopy: Upper and lower GI 
Endoscopy (diagnostic and therapeutic 
procedures) and Bronchoscopy.  
 
Surgery: Surgical procedures took place 
under general and local anaesthesia. The 
Draeger anaesthetic machine became the 
primary anaesthetic machine in use. The 
Medivent Anaesthetic Machine was kept 
in theatre as a back-up machine and 
remained under full service contract. All 
Consultant Anaesthetists and Nursing 
staff were upskilled into use of the new 
machine by Draeger Medical.  
 
Gynaecology: Laparoscopies and minor 
Gynaecological procedures requiring 
general anaesthesia. 
 
Oral Maxillo-Facial Surgery: Up to six 
procedures took place once weekly using 
both general and local anaesthesia with 
sedation. 
 
Pain Management: Routine list took 
place once every fortnight with full x ray 
service. 
 
Audits/Inspections: 
 Participated in the I.M.B. 

Haemovigilance inspection. 
 
 

 
 
 Weekly Hygiene Audits were 

undertaken using the HIQA audit tool 
and results were forwarded to the 
Chairperson of the Hygiene Services 
Team. HIQA Hygiene Audit 2008, the 
Hospital achieved an overall score of 
Good. 

 
Quality Initiatives/Improvements 
 Follow-up Telephone Calls: All 

surgical patients post general 
anaesthesia and gynaecology patients 
post diagnostic laparoscopy were 
routinely contacted by nursing staff 
for follow-on care on the next 
working day. 

 Chemical Inventory updated for Day 
Unit Safety Statement. 

 Endoscopy documentation revised as 
follows: 
o Daily log of Endoscope 

Decontamination revised 
o Endoscope Traceability form 

devised to trace endoscopes 
leaving the Department for use 
elsewhere in the Hospital. 

 Day Theatre documentation 
developed as follows: 

o Daily checklist for Nursing staff to 
complete every morning 

o Checklist for checking CSSD 
packs for integrity on return to the 
Department  

 Day Unit documentation revised as 
follows: 

o Day Unit Porter Daily Checklist 
o Household staff sign-off sheets for 

cleaning of presses and patient 
trolleys revised. 

 Re-usable invasive medical devices 
have been replaced with single use 
disposable items where possible, in 
line with national recommendations. 
Examples of this include switching to 
single use anaesthetic face masks and 
phasing out use of re-usable sterile 
drapes. 
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 New Equipment Purchased: 
o Two Endoscopes (one 
Gastroscopy and one Bronchoscopy) 

 
 
Issues of Note 
 Budgetary restrictions in 2008 limited 

the purchasing of new equipment and 
introduction of new services. 

 The refurbishment of the Main 
Theatre suite was facilitated by the 
combining of Day Care surgery 
activity and urgent/emergency in-
patient surgery in the Day Theatre. 
This took place from Monday 28th 
July to Wednesday 3rd September 
2008. 

 The Endoscopy Unit has been the site 
for central decontamination of 
endoscopes since June 2007 as the 
medivator in Main Theatre was 
decommissioned due to issues with 
the water supply. This is an out-
standing and ongoing issue tied in 
with the need to separate the 
Endoscopy Decontamination area 
from the Endoscopy Procedure room.  

 The remaining Pentax equipment in 
Endoscopy was decommissioned. 

 All Service contracts for equipment 
maintenance and repair were adhered 
to. 

 
Service Plans for 2009 
 The main service plan for 2009 would 

be to refurbish the Day Care Unit, in 
particular: 
1) To separate out the decontamin-
 ation and procedure areas in 
 Endoscopy, which are currently 
 located in one room.  
2) To upgrade the ventilation/air 
 exchange units in Day Theatre 
 and install ventilation Units in the 
 Endoscopy and the main ward 
 areas. A Thermal Comfort Survey 
 undertaken by McCusker 
 Environmental on 8th October 
 2007 recommended that “the 
 installation of a temperature/ 
 airflow controlled unit in the 

 Endoscopy Room and the Day 
 Ward would improve thermal 
 comfort conditions” 
3) To upgrade the hand wash sinks in 

the Endoscopy room, Main Ward 
and Recovery. This forms part of 
an ongoing minor capital project 
to replace sinks and bathrooms in 
the Hospital. 

 To anticipate and adapt to any 
changes in service provision resulting 
from the implementation of the 
Review of Acute Hospital Services in 
HSE Mid-West (April 2008). 

 To upgrade from the existing 
Diathermy Machine in Theatre (this 
machine is obsolete). 

 To continue to replace re-usable items 
with single use items when and where 
possible. 

 To install a wall mounted cardiac 
monitor in the main ward area for 
patients who require close observation 
post-surgery or endoscopy. 

 
Retirement 
 Ms. Miriam Howard, Household Staff 

retired in August 2008. 
 
 

____________________ 
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Department of Anaesthesia & Pain Management 
  

 
Consultant Anaesthetists: 

Dr. Brendan Conroy   

Dr. Fasih Khan  

Dr. Joseph Lee 

Dr. P.J. Breen (sessional)  

Dr. John Kennedy (sessional)  

Dr. Richard McEllistrem (sessional) 

 
Activity 
The Department of Anaesthesia continued 
to provide a full range of services – 
general, regional and targeted controlled 
infusion (T.C.I.).  Quality indicators are all 
good.  Dr. Khan is one of the country’s 
leading experts.  There is a high level of 
satisfaction with patients, surgeons, 
physicians and nursing colleagues.  
Regional anaesthesia has been improved 
with the acquisition of a new regional 
anaesthesia specific ultrasound.  Dr. Lee 
has taken a lead in the application of this 
technology, specifically beneficial for 
patients requiring access for dialysis.  Both 
the acute and chronic pain management 
service is active and numbers continue to 
grow.  We are still providing an informal 
service to Milford Hospice when required.  
 
The In-Patient Pain Management service 
saw a total of 80 new referrals and 165 
reviews (51 new medical referrals and 29 
new surgical referrals) regarding a chronic 
pain problem.  A total of 13 medical 
patients and 3 surgical patients received a 
pain injection facilitating an earlier 
discharge home in the majority of cases.  
 
The Pain Management Out-Patient Clinic 
reviewed a total of 398 patients, of which 
87 of these patients were new referrals. 
The main referral sources for these patients 
were; GP’s = 72 pts, Medical referrals = 8 
pts, Surgical referrals = 4 pts, Orthopaedic 
referrals = 2, and 1 pt from other source. 
 

 
A total of 483 patients underwent their 
pain procedure in the Day Care Unit in 
2008. A total of 76% of these patients 
were available for follow-up phone call 
one week after their procedure by the 
CNS. The majority of these patients (77%) 
reported a very good to good result post 
the injection with an improved quality of 
life, and a reduction in the amount of 
analgesia required in most patients.  

 
A total of 378 patients underwent pain 
procedures without X-Ray guidance in the 
Medical Assessment Unit in 2008. A total 
of 228 patients were available for follow-
up call one week later. Of these patients, 
74% reported a very good to good result 
following these injections. Results were 
based on the patient’s subjective report of 
improved quality of life, reduced analgesic 
requirements, and in some cases the ability 
to remain in employment.  
 
Due to funding issues there were no Spinal 
Cord Stimulators inserted in 2008. Patients 
who fulfil the criteria for Neuromodulation 
were referred to St. Vincent’s Hospital for 
assessment and a trial of stimulation. Their 
follow-up care is provided by the Pain 
Clinic at St. John’s Hospital. 
 
Issues of Note 
The Did Not Attend (D.N.A.) rate for the 
Out-Patient pain management service 
remains high at 18%. A further 4% 
cancelled their appointment at very short 
notice e.g. on day before or morning of 
appointment. This results in longer waiting 
times for both new and review patients, 
and wastage of staff time in preparing 
charts etc. The result of this is that patients 
who need urgent appointments are unable 
to be booked in at earlier notice. 
 
The D.N.A. rate for the pain procedure list 
remains low with 3% of the patients in 
2008 failing to attend for their day ward 
procedure.  
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Department Of Gynaecology 
 

 
Consultant Gynaecologists: 

Dr. Catherine Casey 

Dr. Una Fahy (sessional) 

Dr. Rudi Van Huyssteen (sessional)  
 
 
Activity levels remain high within the 
Department of Gynaecology, despite signif-
icant restrictions and access to in-patient 
beds on a regular basis.  Activity statistics 
are shown in Chapter 4. 
 
Dr. Rudi Van Huyssteen joined the 
Department of Gynaecology during the year 
in a job-sharing capacity with Dr. Una Fahy. 
 
 The Day Unit continues to be very busy 
with high demand on access every week.   

 
 
Pre-admission service continues to improve 
the efficiency and running of both the Main 
Theatre and Day Unit service.  It also helps 
to pre-empt any likely problems that may 
arise.  
 
Increasing use of minimally invasive 
techniques has led to a shorter stay in 
hospital for many gynaecological patients.  
This is also facilitated by the improved 
video equipment in the gynaecology theatre 
and the newer techniques used in the 
treatment of menorrhagia. 
 
The twice weekly Out-Patient Gynaecology 
and Hysteroscopy Clinics remain extremely 
busy.   
 
The monthly infertility Gynaecology 
Endocrinology Clinics also remain busy.  
 

 
____________________ 
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Department Of Medicine 
 
 
Admitting Consultant Physicians:  

Dr. C.J. Cronin  
(General Internal Medicine & Nephrology)  
Dr. E. M. T. Mulloy  
(General Internal Med. & Respiratoy Med.)  
Dr. L. Casserly (sessional)  
( Nephrology & General Internal Medicine) 
Dr. H. Holloway (sessional)  
(Gastroentorogy) 
Dr. Maeve Skelly (sessional) 
(Gastroentorogy) 
 
The Department of Medicine continued to 
experience high levels of clinical activity 
throughout 2008. Activity statistics are 
shown in Chapter 4. 
 
Drs. Cronin, Mulloy and Casserly have 
major sub-specialty sessional commit-
ments at Mid-Western Regional Hospital, 
Dooradoyle. There has been a shift 
towards ambulatory day care in recent 
years accelerated by successful 
introduction of the Medical Assessment 
Unit (M.A.U.).  This development has 
allowed early timely discharge of 
medically stable patients and the fast track 
of patients from A&E who require 
continuing care, but not necessarily 
hospital admission.  It has also allowed 
earlier discharge of in-patients, so that our 
length of stay has decreased significantly.  
We are now seeing over 150 patients 
monthly in the Unit.  
 
With the majority of our in-patients 
admitted through A&E, close working 
relationships with our surgical colleagues 
and anaesthetic colleagues, particularly in 
the area of intensive care, have proved 
pivotal to patient well-being.  Our nursing 
colleagues have contributed enormously to 
patient care delivery with superb bedside / 
ward based nursing excellence.  Additional 
input from Clinical Nurse Specialists has 
enhanced the multi-disciplinary team 
based approach to patient care. They 
provide a wide range of expertise, 
particularly in the areas of Diabetes Care, 

Respiratory Care, Continence Care, 
Infection Control, Health Promotion, 
Palliative Care, Pain Management and 
Cardiac Resuscitation training.  Close 
working relationship with the Admissions 
Discharge Transfer Co-ordinator has 
facilitated efficient and timely planned in-
patient discharge. 
 
Our Clinical Pharmacists ensure safe 
delivery of drug based therapies and have 
had outstanding success in the area of 
Anticoagulation. Our colleagues in 
Pathology, Laboratory, Clinical Nutrition 
along with Physiotherapy also make a 
major contribution. Hospital Management 
and the development of Information 
Management Systems, through close 
working relationships with clinicians, have 
been recognised by the success of the 
Hospital in the area of accreditation. 
 
The Department remains very involved in 
Postgraduate Training at Intern, Senior 
House Officer, G.P. Trainee and Registrar 
level, with twice weekly teaching sessions 
and ongoing ward-based training/teaching 
opportunities recognised by the Medical 
Council and the Royal College of 
Physicians of Ireland. All three Physicians 
were Secretaries of their respective 
National Subspecialty Societies (Irish 
Nephrology Society, Irish Thoracic 
Society) in recent years and organised their 
respective A.G.M.’s in Dublin and 
Limerick. 
 
A new development has involved 
Clinicians lecturing University of 
Limerick, Post graduate Medical Students 
in their Pre-Clinical years. They are due to 
start clinical training in 2010.  
 
We continue to provide an in-house 
Advanced Cardiac Life Support (A.C.L.S.) 
training programme with regular training 
sessions and re-certification weekend 
courses, under the auspices of our 
A.C.L.S. Instructor and the Irish Heart 
Foundation.
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Department Of Surgery 
 
 
Consultant Surgeons: 

Mr. P.E. Burke 

Mr. R.M. Keane  

Ms. Anne Merrigan (sessional) 

Mr. Louis Falke (temporary) 
 
 
Activity statistics for the department are 
shown in Chapter 4. 
 
The year 2008 has seen the beginning of 
what is likely to be the most major 
changes in surgical practices in St. John’s 
since at least the late 1980’s.  The 
reconfiguration of surgical services in the 
Mid-West Region and the National Cancer 
Strategy will result in major changes in 
practice.  Mid 2008 saw the secondment of 
Mr. Paul Burke, Consultant General and 
Vascular Surgeon at St. John’s Hospital to 
lead the reconfiguration of surgical 
services and saw the appointment of a 
temporary Consultant Surgeon, Mr. Louis 
Falke in his stead.  
 
It is envisaged that this reconfiguration on 
the one hand will result in the cessation of 
emergency surgery at St. John’s, which 
will be transferred to the Mid-Western 
Regional Hospital which will take all the 
acute surgical admissions.  This is likely to 
have major implications for bed use and 
revenue for the Hospital.  On the other 
hand, it is envisaged that the General 
Surgeons from the other three hospitals in 
the region, the Vascular Surgeons and 
Urologists will carry out elective lists in 
St. John’s, which should significantly 
expand and increase our elective surgical 
throughput of day and medium stay 
patients.  To this end, during 2008 our two 
in-patient theatres were remodelled, 
expanded and refurbished to the highest 
standard. 
 

The National Cancer Strategy 
unfortunately has dictated that all major 
cancer surgery  and in St. John’s case 
principally major colo-rectal and breast 
surgery, shall herceforth be carried out 
solely in the Mid-Western Regional 
Hospital which has been designated as one 
of the eight cancer centres for the country. 
This will end a long tradition of major 
cancer surgery and major cancer care in St. 
John’s Hospital, at least for the time being. 
 
Thus, the Department of Surgery is in a 
state of flux and change and while there is 
some uncertainty, we would hope that St. 
John’s will continue to play a major part in 
the provision of elective surgical services 
for the region.    
 
 
 

__________________ 
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Health Promotion 
 
 
Health Promotion Officer:  
Ms. Kim Coughlan 
 
Activity 
 Completed a mapping exercise for the 

HSE Alcohol Implementation Group  
 Attended the Alcohol Consultation day 

on 9th June 2008 to discuss next steps - 
Phase 1. 

 Followed the guidance from the HSE 
Alcohol Implementation Group arising 
from the mapping exercises and 
consultation day as part of a 3 year 
project – Phases 2 and 3. 

 
Smoking Cessation Service – 110 new 
patients were seen - 107 (97.3%) patients  
and 3 (2.7%) Staff.  On-going follow up 
for these patients was continued 
throughout the year. 
Basic Life Support Training – 140 staff 
received this mandatory training. This 
consisted of 29 sessions throughout the 
year with a maximum of 6 places per 
session – 106 were trained from St John’s 
Hospital, 34 from Barrington’s Hospital, 
including Consultant Doctors, Nursing 
staff, Allied Health Professionals and 
Support Services staff. 
Staff education – Conducted education 
sessions for staff working in the A&E 
Department and wards with regards to 
delivering brief interventions around the 
topic of alcohol with their patients. 25 
attended training. 
Awareness of Health Promotional Issues 
created through displays coinciding with 
National Campaigns: 
 National No Smoking Day  
 World C.O.P.D. Day  
 Breast Cancer Month  
 Men’s Cancer Action Week 
Personal Lifestyle Health checks for Staff 
- 73 staff attended in total, 62 staff 
members were given specific health 
promotional advice in response to 
identified health issues from the lifestyle 
health check. 

 
 
Continued membership of the Regional 
Ethnic Minority Group who developed a 
Multicultural Health Strategy for the Mid 
West Region and are presently actioning 
the recommendations from the Strategy. 
The main recommendation was to 
establish a Multicultural Health Forum for 
sharing of ideas between the Health 
Service Providers and the local Ethnic 
Minority Groups, with an aim of 
improving services for people from ethnic 
minority backgrounds. The inaugural 
meeting for the forum is planned for 
March 2009.  
 

New Services/Quality Initiatives 
Participated in Ageism Awareness Week, 
an initiative promoted by the HSE in 
partnership with the Irish HPH Network. 
Results were: 
Staff quiz – 44 entries, good table 
discussion in the staff restaurant. 
Presentation – 20 minutes in the 
classroom – attendance = 7 people. 
Display stand – In main reception for 2 
days, staff restaurant for 2 days and the 
OPD for 1 day. Details of our participation 
in this initiative were sent to the HSE on 
request and St John’s Hospital was 
included in the “HSE Say No To Ageism” 
Initiative Participation Report 2008.”   
 
Active participation with the Smoking 
Cessation Services in Ireland – National 
Research Project. Six-month project 
maintaining a smoking cessation database 
and distributing research questionnaires for 
patient satisfaction with the smoking 
cessation service.   
 
Collected data from 21 consenting 
smoking cessation service users seen from 
beginning of January until the end of 
March and their 3 month follow up. 
Forwarded data to the Research Institute 
for analysis and completion of research. 
Awaiting report, due for completion 
January 2009. 
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Human Resources 
 
 
Manager: 
Mr. Frank White 

Assistant Managers: 
Ms. Agnes Murphy 
Ms. Monika Ringrose 
 
 
Industrial Relations   
The Human Resources (H.R.) Department 
was engaged in ongoing management of 
industrial relations issues throughout 2008.  
Substantial support was provided to 
Department heads to enable them to deal 
with issues at department level where 
possible.   
 
There were four third party referrals in 
2008, two to the Labour Relations 
Commission (LRC), 1 to the Labour Court 
and one to the Equality Tribunal.  One of 
the issues referred to the LRC remains live 
and will be the subject of a further hearing 
in 2009.  The Labour Court referral was 
successfully defended by the Hospital.  
The Equality Tribunal referral was not 
pursued.    
  
2008 saw the introduction of 37.5 hour 
working week for nurses.  The change was 
implemented in St. Johns on 14 July. 
 
Revised Porter rosters were introduced in 
2008 following a long period of 
negotiation. 
 
Recruitment & Selection 
Recruitment activity was curtailed for the 
second part of 2008.  Summary of 
Permanent Appointments 2008: 
 

 
Category 

No. of 
Appointments 

Nursing 9 
Radiography 3 
Administration 6 
Catering 3 
Portering 3 
Total 24 

 

The total number of staff in employment at 
31st December 2008 was 385. 
 
Superannuation 
The transfer of responsibility for the 
Voluntary Hospitals Superannuation 
Scheme from the Department of Health to 
the HSE, coupled with retrospective 
changes to the rules governing access to 
the scheme for employees and former 
employees with previous part time service 
significantly increased the H. R.  Depart-
ment’s responsibility for and involvement 
in the management of staff pensions with a 
noticeable increase in workload. 
 
Appointments 
Senior permanent appointments included 
Ms. Margaret Finn, Asst. Director of 
Nursing, Mr. Dean Darvill CNM2, ICU 
and Ms. Freda O’Rourke CNM2, 
Occupational Health. 
 
Retirements 
Ms. Susan Gallivan, Asst. Director of 
Nursing, Ms. Catherine Hayes, Staff Nurse 
and Ms. Miriam Howard, Household 
Assistant.   
 
Resignations  
Ms. Sheila Mulcair, CNM2 
Ms. Christine Lennon, A/CNM2  
Ms. Mary Blewitt, CNM1  
Ms. Eimear Keane, Staff Nurse  
Mr. Padraig Egan, Staff Nurse 
Ms. Christine Mortell, Staff Nurse  
Ms. Claire Hughes, I.S. Department  
Ms. Sandra Burke, Clerical Officer 
Ms. Elaine Killeen, Clerical Officer 
Mr. Eoin O’Riordan, Clerical Officer 
Ms. Sharon Tomkins, Clerical Officer 
 
We wish all of our former colleagues the 
very best for the future. 
 

 
____________________ 
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Information Systems 
 
 
 

Manager: 
Mr. Darren O’Brien 

Deputy Manager: 
Mr. Brian McKeon 

Support Technicians: 
Mr. Stephen Culligan (Systems 
Development) 
Mr. Eoin Noonan (Technical Support/ 
Telephony/Infrastructure) 
Ms. Claire Hughes (Technical Support) to 
April 2008 
Mr. Michael Bermingham (Technical 
Support / Infrastructure) from Sept. 2008 
 
Activity 
The department continued its work in 
providing, maintaining and supporting the 
Hospital’s electronic Information and 
Communication systems and Audio Visual 
facilities. 
 
Business Systems:  Significant systems 
developed in-house include;  
 An Automated O.P.D. New Appoint-

ment, Reminder and Validation Letters 
system.  

 An Appropriate Bed Usage Electronic 
Form and Statics Reporting System.  

 A Label Printing System for use with 
the New National Chart.   

Work also commenced on the 
development of a replacement document 
scanning and management system for 
A&E. 
 
The Hospital has been selected to be part 
of the next phase of the National “Roll-
out” of iSoft’s i.PM-Patient Management 
System. The department carried out the 
detailed analysis of the Hospital’s existing 
Patient Administration System necessary 
for the production of a Project Initiation 
Document.  It is anticipated that the year-
long implementation-project will comm-
ence in 2009. 
 
 

 
 
On-line Services:  Further development of 
the Hospital’s Intranet was carried out. 
This included the migration of Hospital 
Policies, Procedures and Guidelines from 
eq-Office to SharePoint.  
 
Infrastructure:  The department provided 
the computer and communications 
facilities necessary for the following 
Capital projects:  
 Top Floor In-patient Accommodation 

Re-fit 
 Main Theatre Re-build  
This included the extension of the Wireless 
network into both of the new Operating 
Rooms. These works involved the 
provision of I.S. and communications 
facilities for the temporary accommodation 
for the departments involved.  Three file 
servers were upgraded to Microsoft 
Windows 2008 and trials commenced on 
Microsoft Windows Vista. 
 
Security:  An Email SPAM filtering 
system was implemented; consequently 
the quantity of un-solicited Email, which 
previously accounted for 70% of all the 
Hospital’s in-bound Email traffic, has been 
eliminated.  The Hospital’s anti-virus 
system and firewall software was upgraded 
to the currently available versions. 
 
Facilities:  All of the patient televisions 
were replaced with flat-screen models. 
Work commenced on upgrading the live 
television feed from St. John’s Cathedral 
that enables patients to view Mass from 
the Cathedral on the Hospital’s televisions.  
 
Staffing 
In April Ms. Claire Hughes left the 
Hospital’s employ to further her career at 
St. Vincent’s Hospital, Dublin. Mr. 
Michael Bermingham commenced his 
employment as I.S. Support Technician, 
filling the vacancy left by Ms. Hughes.  
 

-27- 



St. John’s Hospital, Limerick 

Nursing 
 
 
 

Director of Nursing:  
Ms. Kay Hogan  

Assistant Directors of Nursing:  
Mrs. Audrey Hanrahan  
Ms. Mary Carey 
 
 

Hygiene Services 
  
Activity 
The National Hygiene Services Quality 
Review 2008 took place in St. John’s 
Hospital on September 2008.  The 
Hospital achieved an overall rating of 
‘Good’, which was an improvement on 
2007.  St. John’s also scored highest out of 
the six hospitals in the region.  There are 
56 standards in total, divided between 
Corporate Management and Service 
Delivery. St. John’s scored 25 ‘A’s, 30 
‘B’s and 1 ‘C’.  An ‘A’ score demonstrates 
exceptional compliance of greater than 85 
%, a ‘B’ demonstrates extensive 
compliance between 66% and 85% and a 
‘C’  demonstrates broad compliance 
between 41% and 65%.  The assessment in 
September was unannounced and was 
undertaken by two authorised officers 
from the Health Information and Quality 
Authority ( HIQA).  The purpose of the 
assessment was to assess compliance 
against the National Hygiene Standards.  
The results were published in December 
2008. 
 
Quality Initiatives 
The Main Operating Theatre was 
refurbished in September. This involved 
realigning both theatres to make them of 
equal size. The walls were lead-lined and 
then covered in washable material called 
’whiterock’. The ventilation system was 
also upgraded. 
 
The Top Floor was also upgraded and the 
staff moved into their new surroundings in 
mid-October. All sinks were replaced.  
 
 

 
 
New radiators were installed. All 
previously tiled surfaces were replaced by 
‘whiterock’. All flooring was coved and 
old window sills were replaced, using 
washable material. Bathrooms replicated 
the Ground Floor model, in that ‘wet 
rooms’ replaced the conventional showers 
~to provide easily washable surfaces and 
allow patients easier access. The Parker 
bath was left in situ. 
 
The Accident and Emergency Department 
was painted and Electronic Sky lights were 
installed in the Medical Assessment Unit. 
 
An ‘umbrella’ policy was developed on 
The Management and Monitoring of 
Hygiene Services. A policy was also 
developed on The Evaluation of Hygiene 
Services. 
 
Issues of Note 
In 2008, €521,193 was spent on the 
Cleaning Contract, an increase of 20% 
compared to 2007. Cleaning materials cost 
€65,579, which was a decrease of 12% 
compared to 2007. 
 
Plans for 2009 
Finances permitting, the First Floor will be 
refurbished in 2009 to the same standard 
as the Ground and Top Floors. 
 
 

Nursing Services 
 
Activity 
A Medication Awareness week was held in 
September for all nursing staff. Its purpose 
was to raise awareness of An Bord 
Altranais guidelines, and to discuss related 
issues for example, the issue of Fitness to 
Practice. An audit on administration of 
medication was also conducted around this 
time.  There was a great attendance for the 
entire week and it was decided to look at 
setting up local standards relating to all 
aspects of medication. 
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The Nursing Practice Development Group 
commenced work in the latter part of the 
year on Nursing Documentation and Care 
Pathways. Although Pathways have been 
in existence in St. John’s for quite some 
time, staff found they were laborious and 
time consuming. So they were reviewed 
and simpler versions were thought to be 
more user-friendly, while at the same time, 
informative.   
 
Nursing documentation, e.g. the patient 
record was also reviewed and it was 
identified that we needed a more user-
friendly document, which would still 
reflect individualised patient care, 
demonstrate best practice and be based on 
the Roper, Logan and Tierney model of 
nursing, and would blend in nicely with 
the National Patient Record.  
 
Also, at this group, practice was changed 
with regard to TED (thrombo embolic 
deterrent) stockings. Best practice 
indicated that TEDs should actually be 
prescribed.  Our guideline was amended to 
reflect this. 
 
An Information Week about Student 
Nurses was held in July, to increase 
peoples’ awareness of all that is involved 
in their training.  Poster Presentations were 
held in the Staff Restaurant for the 
duration of the week. 
 
An external Audit of the Practice Learning 
Environment was conducted by the 
University of Limerick during April and 
May and showed that we fulfil all the 
criteria necessary to enable us to facilitate 
student nurse training. 
 
As a result of the Regional Nursing 
Strategy, a Fundamentals of Care working 
group was set up. Each of the six hospitals 
in the region had to choose an element of 
care and St. John’s chose Oral Hygiene. 
 
Quality Initiatives 
A system was introduced between the 
wards and pharmacy to track transfer of 
medication between wards.  Research in 
the U.K. demonstrated that the use of 
tabards (bibs) with printing on the back 

asking not to be disturbed during 
medication round, decreased the incidence 
of medication errors. These were 
purchased in readiness for launching the 
standards in 2009. 
 
The design of a comprehensive document 
which would be used to record all aspects 
of care for a patient from admission to 
discharge.   
 
The design of pathways that would be 
simple to follow and contain all necessary 
information on one page. 
 
A student Nurses Notice Board was placed 
in each floor, used solely for the benefit of 
students. It has a glass exterior which is 
lockable and will prevent it being defaced.   
An Oral Hygiene Assessment Tool was 
developed at the Fundamentals of Care 
Group and best practice was brought into 
play by changing the content of our Oral 
Hygiene Trays and piloting same in the 
Intensive Care Unit. 
 
Plans for 2009 
Through the Practice Development Group, 
nursing standards on all aspects of 
medication will be developed and 
introduced in 2009. 
 
Finalise the development of the nursing 
documentation and introduce it to all 
patient care areas by the end of Spring 
2009. 
 
Roll out the new Oral Hygiene Assessment 
Tool and new Oral Hygiene Tray 
throughout the Hospital in early 2009. 
 
 

Student Nursing 
                    
Clinical Placement Co-ordinator: 
Ms. Aileen Moloney 
 
The close partnership with the Department 
of Nursing at the University of Limerick 
and the Clinical Placement Co-ordinator 
continued throughout 2008 with 116 
students allocated from the University to 
St John’s Hospital.  Students from the 
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General Program, Intellectual Disability 
and the Mental Health Programs were 
facilitated to identify learning oppor-
tunities and achieve their outcomes while 
on placements, ranging from 2 – 6 weeks.  
Clinical Nurse Specialists continued to 
facilitate talks and tutorials relevant to all 
student needs to help them achieve their 
learning outcomes.  Feedback from these 
sessions was very positive. 
 
Quality Initiatives 
An audit of the Practice Placement 
Learning Environment took place in two 
clinical areas, the Top and First Floor.  
This audit was in conjunction with the 
Department of Nursing and Midwifery, 
University of Limerick.  The audit tool 
was based on the An Bord Altranais 
Requirements & Standards (2005), which 
is informed by international developments 
in nursing and midwifery education, 
changes in Irish society and the Irish 
Healthcare System.  Audit results showed 
that the standards are being achieved in 
both clinical areas and did not require the 
implementation of action plans. Both 
floors have been re-approved for student 
placement. 
 
Plans for 2009 
The Practice Placement Learning Environ-
ment Audit will be conducted in the I.C.U. 
and Theatre in the early months of 2009. 
 
 

Diabetes Care 
 
Clinical Nurse Specialist: 
Ms. Anne O’Sullivan 
 
Total number of patients seen in 2008 was 
2,382.  This includes in-patients, out-
patients and diabetes nurse led clinic.  171 
new patients accessed the service and 899 
telephones reviews were conducted. 
 
Quality Initiatives 
Accreditation survey took place in October 
2007 and included: 
 Policy, procedure and guideline review 

and update, using best practice 

evidence and development of new 
clinical guidelines 

 Development of performance 
indicators and audit 

 Audit of diabetes clinical guidelines 
 Patient satisfaction survey 
 Development of patient information 

leaflets 
 Enhancement of communication with 

G.P. Public Health Nurse and 
community day centre locally 

 
The development of a diabetes in-patient 
care pathway for newly diagnosed patients 
was trailed on the Ground Floor. It was 
decided by Nursing Management to 
discontinue using the care pathway, as it 
was very time consuming. The Nursing 
Practice Development Group decided to 
introduce one admission document and 
individual care plans. Therefore, in-patient 
diabetes care plan and endoscopy care plan 
produced and forward to the Practice 
Development Group awaiting feedback. 
 
World Diabetes Awareness was celebrated 
on November 14th 2008.  An Information 
Board was situated at the Hospital main 
entrance and blood glucose screening was 
offered to members of staff. 
 
The Diabetes care team participated in two 
Insulin studies throughout 2007 and 2008. 
The objective of these studies was to 
assess the safety of insulin in diabetes 
patients, to monitor the efficacy by 
changes in metabolic outcomes, to monitor 
adverse events and assess patient’s 
treatment satisfaction. Study one was 
completed and final report received and 
forward to the Quality Co-ordinator. 
 
New equipment ~ Proposal to upgrade 
existing DCA analyzer to DCA vantage. 
The request was forwarded to the P.O.C.T. 
Committee and the criteria was met.   
The purchasing request was completed.  
Finance was available from the Diabetes 
Fund and fortunately some money was 
granted by the Friends of St John's 
Hospital. It is hoped that the DCA vantage 
will be available early 2009. 
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Issues of Note 
 
Member of the Developed Regional 
diabetes steering group H.S.E. West 
(Limerick, Clare and North Tipperary).  
This group had forwarded proposals for 
community retinal screening and a 
podiatrist service to the H.S.E. in 2008.  
Finance was received for the retinal 
screening project but unfortunately, the 
money received was taken back due to 
budgetary constraints. 
 
A Diabetes Nursing Management course 
was held in March and September 2008. 
The course was a five day course held over 
four weeks and targeted primary and 
secondary nurses.  The course was co-
ordinated by the Diabetes Care Co-
ordinator from the N.P.D.U. in conjunction 
with D.C.U.. The DNS (St John's Hospital) 
presented three lectures on each course. A 
staff Nurse from St John's Hospital 
attended the first course held in the school 
of nursing in the Mid Western Regional 
Hospital. It is hoped that this course will 
continue to be provided in 2009. 

 

 
Infection Control 

 
Clinical Nurse Specialist: 
Ms. Breda O’Brien 
 
Development & Review of Policies/ 
Procedures/Guidelines (P.P.G.’s) 
(a) Development & Review of 
 Policies/Procedures/Guidelines 
During 2008, a collection of infection 
control PPG’s were reviewed and updated, 
all of which are available on the Hospital 
Intranet. All documents were reviewed and 
developed using available evidence from 
research or national guidelines. All 
documents were approved and ratified by 
the Hospital PPG Committee.  Two new 
documents were developed and a further 
five were reviewed and updated.  Infection 
prevention and control manuals were 
prepared and distributed to all clinical 
areas and other hospital departments.  
 
 

(b) Surveillance  
The Infection Control Nurse remains 
vigilant with the use of surveillance to 
identify incidents/outbreaks of infection. 
Alert organism surveillance data collection 
continued during 2008, to include national 
data collection on MRSA bacteraemia and 
national surveillance of MRSA in general 
ICU’s.   
 
During 2008 an investigation was 
undertaken into an increased incidence of 
Clostridium difficile infection.  
 
2008 also saw the introduction and 
distribution of monthly alert organism’s 
surveillance data to Clinicians, Hospital 
Management and Nursing Management. 
 
(c)  Education & Training  
Staff training through induction and 
mandatory updates continued alongside 
ad- hoc training sessions for staff. 
Mandatory and other training programmes 
included Standard Infection Control 
Precautions and the prevention of needle-
stick injuries and exposure to blood and 
bodily fluids, Hand Hygiene, Prevention of 
infection in peripheral lines, Clostridium 
difficile, MRSA, Management of Clinical 
spillages, segregation of healthcare risk 
waste. The Infection Control Nurse also 
attended the National Infection Prevention 
and Control Nurses Conference. 
 
(d) Committee Membership  
The Infection Control Nurse continued to 
be an active member of the following 
Committees during 2008: Hygiene 
Services, Health Safety and Security, 
Decontamination, Wound Care, 
Purchasing, and external participation in 
Regional Communicable Disease 
Committee and Regional Infection 
Prevention & Control Nurses and also 
participation at local Infection Control 
Committee. 
 
(e) Audit  
The audits conducted during 2008 
included Safe Use and Disposal of Sharps, 
Audit of Isolation Practices and an Audit 
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on Healthcare Risk Waste Segregation 
practices.   
 
This year also saw a national hygiene audit 
in which infection control was heavily 
involved in its preparation and review. 
 
 (f) Environmental Issues 
Important environmental issues were 
prominent in 2008 namely; Aspergillus 
control measures during renovation/ 
upgrade of the Top floor ward and the 
Theatre Department.  
 
Legionella control measures continued 
during 2008 including water sampling. 
The installation of hospital pattern mixer 
taps and basins continued during upgrade/ 
renovation works.  
 
This year also saw the preparation of a 
specification for an Endoscopy 
decontamination unit. 
 
All beds, mattresses from the top floor 
ward were sent off-site for complete 
dismantling and decontamination using 
automated washer-disinfectors and steam 
decontamination  
 
Quality Initiatives 
 Developed hygiene audit tools for use 

on monthly walk-about by members of 
the hospital Hygiene Committee 

 Updated education evaluation forms 
used for infection prevention and 
control training 

 Prepared an infection control 
admission questionnaire 

 Prepared a scoring system for use with 
peripheral intravenous cannulae 

 Assisted a local hospital with infection 
control aspects for accreditation 
purposes 

 Trialled disposable thermometers 
 Trialled safety cannulae 
 
 

Pain Management 
 
Clinical Nurse Specialist: 
Ms. Patricia Moloney 
 

Activity 
In 2008, the acute pain team (Pain 
Management Nurse under the supervision 
of the Anaesthetists) evaluated a total of 
370 patients without Patient Controlled 
Analgesia, and 176 patients with PCA 
during the daily acute pain management 
round. The purpose of the daily acute pain 
round is to evaluate patient’s pain scores, 
efficacy of analgesia, and incidence and 
severity of side effects. The results of this 
pain round are used to further improve 
quality of care in areas such as discharge 
analgesia, and the development of Post 
Operative Nausea and Vomiting clinical 
guidelines. The results of this review 
demonstrate an improvement in the 
administration of regular Paracetamol and 
+/- Difene with 91% of postoperative 
patients (without PCA), and 81% of 
patients with PCA receiving these 
medications regularly. The incidence of 
severe pain remains low in both groups 
with 18% of patients with PCA reporting 
severe pain at 24hr follow-up decreasing to 
3% at 48hr review. A total of 11% of 
postoperative patients without PCA 
reported severe pain at 24hr review. These 
findings are within recommended 
standards. The overall incidence of 
Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting ranges 
from 11% to 26%.   

 
The C.N.S Pain Management offers a 
telephone help line for patients who 
require advice or information about their 
pain. In 2008, a total of 923 patients 
availed of this service, with 502 patients 
requiring advice about their pain 
procedure, and 421 patients requiring 
advice about a pain management issue. 

 
Pain Management Education Sessions 
continue with a total of 158 Nurses, and 
student nurses attending these sessions in 
2008. The C.N.S. Pain Management also 
gave lectures to the Anaesthetic meeting at 
Limerick Regional Hospital and at the 
Univeristy of Limerick to both 4th year 
student nurses and the Postgraduate 
Diploma Course. 
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Links also continue with the Acute Pain 
Committee in the Limerick Regional 
Hospital with the C.N.S. Pain 
Management attending regular 3 monthly 
meetings there.  
 
Quality Initiatives 
September 2007 saw the commencement 
of a pain management session in the 
Medical Assessment Unit on Tuesday 
mornings. The benefit of this has been a 
reduction in waiting times for patients 
awaiting pain procedures. The waiting 
times for patients undergoing their pain 
procedure with X-Ray guidance was 
reduced from 10-12months to 6-7 months. 
While patients awaiting pain procedures 
without X-Ray guidance had their waiting 
times reduced from 6 months to 2-3 
months.  
 
An audit was undertaken in February 2008 
to determine the efficacy of pain 
management information and education 
leaflets given to patients during their 
hospital stay and on discharge home. The 
results demonstrated that patients were 
very satisfied with the information 
provision. The results of this audit were 
presented (Poster Presentation) at the 
World Pain Society Meeting in August 
2008.  This audit and the result of 
feedback during the acute pain rounds 
highlighted a number of areas that could 
be improved to encourage the 
administration of regular analgesia 
(Paracetamol, +/- NSAID’s) to 
postoperative patients. The first area 
identified was the prescribing nature of 
analgesia; such as oral analgesia 
prescribed as the only route for patients 
who are fasting. This was one of the 
reasons why patients did not receive their 
regular Paracetamol +/- Difene 
postoperatively. Instead patients had to 
wait until another route had been charted. 
To overcome this limitation pre printed 
medication charts have been proposed and 
developed by the Pharmacy department. 
On these medication charts all routes are 
charted thus promoting the administration 
of regular analgesia.  

 

Another area identified for improvement 
was the administration of antiemetics to 
patients postoperatively. The Pharmacy 
Department developed the SPEW 
guidelines in order to ‘Stop Patients with 
Emesis Waiting’ and promote early 
treatment of postoperative nausea and 
vomiting. The anti-emetics are prescribed 
according to the pathway on the pre-
printed medication chart empowering 
nurses to use their clinical skills in 
deciding which best anti-emetic to use on 
patients. Education sessions have yet to be 
commenced regarding the introduction of 
these guidelines. 
 
The prevention of constipation is an 
important area in postoperative care. This 
is one of the side effects of many 
analgesics together with other 
postoperative factors such as fasting and 
decreased mobility. While Senokot will be 
pre-printed on the drug Kardex this may 
not be a suitable option for all patients. 
Together with the continence nurse 
specialist a practical prevention of 
constipation pathway for post-operative 
patients is proposed to prevent the 
occurrence of constipation especially in 
higher risk patients such as those 
following major gynaecological surgery.     
 
Chronic pain is a multidimensional 
phenomenon and as such requires a 
multidisciplinary approach to its 
management. To address the psychological 
needs of patients with chronic pain who 
report difficulty with coping with their 
suffering, a link was established with a 
mindfulness-based stress reduction 
facilitator. This link allows patients to be 
referred to this 8 week course in which 
many skills are imparted to help improve 
their coping abilities. Techniques included 
in the course are Meditation, Stress 
reduction, Body Scan techniques, and 
Yoga which aim to increase awareness to 
both the body and mind.  
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Respiratory Care 
 
Clinical Nurse Specialists: 
Ms. Dolores Fox/Ms. Una O’Connor 
 
Quality Initiatives 
Submitted Proposal through the HSE 
Innovative Fund Scheme to set up a 
Pulmonary Rehabilitation Programme for 
COPD patients, in association with the 
multi-disciplinary team. As recommended 
by International Respiratory Guidelines, 
this programme is considered the gold 
standard for these patients. Benefits 
include reduction of dyspnoea, improved 
exercise tolerance, reduction in hospital 
admissions, improved quality of life and 
patient outcomes for these sufferers. 

 
Introduced another innovative portable 
oxygen system, namely a home-fill oxygen 
device, for our oxygen dependant patients. 
St. John’s Hospital has been the first 
hospital in Ireland to introduce this system, 
as our respiratory service continues to 
strive to increase convenience and ease of 
use of oxygen for our oxygen dependant 
patients. 
 
The Respiratory Service has strengthened 
and further developed linkages with the 
University of Limerick. The RCNS has 
commenced providing lectures to students 
in the Medical Faculty of the University.  

 
Continued linkages with community 
partners by providing lectures and 
workshops to practise nurses. Also 
provided workshop to community care 
workers in Childcare Centre to improve 
awareness and management of respiratory 
illness in children. 
 
The provision of an out-patient pulse 
oximetry service has greatly reduced the 
need for many of our patients having to 
attend the Mid-Western Hospital, 
Limerick, thereby dramatically expediting 
diagnosis of sleep apnoea conditions. The 
Respiratory team presented a poster 
review/audit of this service at the Irish 
Thoracic Society Conference in 
November.  

Clinical Audit Spot Checks on Adherence 
to Prescribing and Administering of 
Oxygen Therapy Guideline has 
demonstrated a dramatic improvement in 
compliance with this Guideline in 2008, 
following written and verbal education of 
nursing and medical staff on the 
importance and necessity of complying 
with this Guideline. 
 
Issues of Note 
The demand for the Respiratory Nurse 
Specialist service grew even further in 
2008, with a 9.5% increase in patients 
dealt with from 2007. 
 
 

Resuscitation Training 
 
Resuscitation Training Officer:   
Ms. Michelle Fitzpatrick 
 
Activity 
2008 saw the introduction of the first 
Cardiac Arrest Team to St John’s Hospital. 
This team provides a targeted, structured, 
consistent and efficient response 24/7, 
seven days a week to a medical 
emergency.  This team is composed of 
senior nursing and medical staff. 
 
A new cardiac arrest alert system was also 
introduced to the hospital. This system 
replaces the older system which did not 
fully meet service demands.  The new 
system also utilizes the International In-
hospital emergency number 2222.  In the 
event of a medical emergency, all fixed 
phones can be used to activate pagers 
carried by members of the cardiac arrest 
team, informing them via a text message of 
the location of the emergency.  This 
system has proven to be very effective and 
efficient. 
 
Two A.C.L.S. Provider courses were also 
facilitated in St John’s Hospital by the 
Resuscitation Department.  This is an 
internationally recognized course, which 
develop the skills of Healthcare 
Professionals in the management of 
medical emergencies including cardiac 
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arrest.  Forty-four people attended this 
training. 
 
Night time Basic Life Support classes were 
again facilitated for medical staff. Three of 
our Consultants were able to avail of this 
service. 
 
Emergency trolleys were purchased for 
both the Physiotherapy and X-Ray 
Departments.  
 
On-going informal training in resuscitation 
at an advanced level continues at St John’s 
Hospital. Departments such as A&E, 
Theatre, M.A.U. and X-ray received this 
training. Frequent training is also provided 
at the Medical Team Education meetings. 
 
Results of Audits/Inspections 
The December Audit of Emergency 
Trolleys showed a marked improvement 
on the previous audit with the pass rate 
moving from 28 % up to 85%.  This is a 
very pleasing result matching increased 
compliance with frequent spot checks on 
the trolleys. 
 
Issues of Note 
The Resuscitation Department is delighted 
that two members of staff have become 
A.C.L.S. Instructors following nomin-
ations to this course from St John’s 
Hospital.  This is a welcome achievement 
and should increase the efficiency of 
running our own courses in the future. 
 
100% of our A&E Registrars and Medical 
Registrars have completed their A.C.L.S. 
as at December 2008.  This is a first for St 
John’s Hospital.  
 
Plans for 2009 
We aim to continue our high rates of 
training, both formally and informally. 
 
The introduction of hands free 
defibrillation throughout the whole 
hospital is a major aim for 2009.  This is in 
keeping with best practice and A.H.A. 
recommendations. 
 

 

Tissue Viability 
 
Clinical Nurse Specialist: 
Ms. Veronica O’Connor 
 
Activity 
The Clinical Nurse Specialist in Tissue 
Viability provides an accessible and 
personalised support service to patients, 
their families and staff in the hospital.  The 
service has expanded to include the 
provision of a comprehensive education, 
training and up skilling programme to G.P. 
Practice Nurses, Public Health Nurses and 
Student Nurses from the Royal College of 
Surgeons, ensuring the best possible care 
for tissue viability patients in the 
community.  Services include enhance-
ment of quality of life for patients 
suffering from chronic leg ulcers and 
ensuring the speedy and effective healing 
of all types of wounds. 
 
 
Quality Initiatives 
The service introduced a Flowtron Plus 
machine for intermittent pneumatic 
compression, which aided patients with 
oedema of the lower limbs to effectively 
use below knee elastic stockings. 
 
The Tissue Viability Nurse developed 
Patient Information Leaflets on the Care of 
the Elastic Stocking to assist patients with 
the maintenance, care, storage and 
replacement of stockings and a Leaflet 
titled ‘How to make the most of your visit 
with us’, which is provided to each new 
patient prior to attending the Leg Ulcer 
Clinic.   
 
The Tissue Viability Nurse was nominated 
as a representative for the Mid-West 
region to the National Wound 
Management Guidelines Committee.   
 
The Tissue Viability Nurse participated as 
a member of the Surgical Team as part of 
the Accreditation process. 
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Research 
The joint Department of Vascular Surgery 
(St. John’s and M.W.R.H.) in conjunction 
with the University of Limerick undertook 
research on the mobility of patients with 
venous leg ulceration.  The outcome of the 
research showed that the mobility patterns 
among patients with leg ulcers are not 
significantly different to age matched 
controls.  The findings were published in 
the European Journal of Endovascular 
Surgery 2007.  The joint department also 
commenced a research project on 
Randomised Clinical Trial of Class 11 
Stocking – vs – Class 1 Stocking for 
Prevention of Venous Leg Ulceration.  
This is the first study of this type to be 
undertaken in Ireland and involves 
community links through a Public Health 
Nurse based in Ennis, Co. Clare.  It is 
expected that the findings will be 
published in late 2008. 
 
 

____________________ 
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Occupational Health 
  

Occupational Health Nurse:   
Ms. Freda O’Rourke   

Occupational Health Officer:   
Dr. Liam Holmes (sessional) 
 
 
Activity 
 Blood Borne Virus Training  

(attendance as for sharps awareness 
training) with Infection Control Nurse  

 Office Health and Safety Training  
 Non-Consultant Hospital Doctor 

Blood Borne Virus training  
 VDU work place assessments  
 Delivered information on the new 

Pregnancy Risk Assessment Forms 
 
Quality Initiatives 
 Continuation of First Aid Audits 
 Completed Respiratory Survillance in 

both the Day Ward, Theatre and 
CSSD 

 As part of the accreditation process, 
the Occupational Health Nurse 
(O.H.N.) was a member of both the 
Human Resources and Environmental 
& Facilities Management Self-
Assessment Teams 

 Member of Health Safety & Security 
Committee 

 Member of Infection Control 
Committee 

 Member of the Hygiene Committee 
 Member of the Occupational Health 

Nurses Association of Ireland which 
holds Bi-Annual meetings  

 First Aid Guidelines updated during 
2008 in line with new regulations. 

 Blood Borne Virus Exposure Policy 
was completed in 2008 

 The Pregnancy Risk Assessment 
Procedure was updated in line with 
new regulations in 2008 

 O.H.N. commenced sickness absence 
reviews in 2008 

 
 

 Lifestyle health checks are carried out 
on an annual basis to insure the 
wellness of staff continues within the 
hospital. This year they were carried 
out on 20th  and 27th August, 23rd and 
24th September 

 A separate Cardio Risk Reduction 
Programme was organised on 12th 
May 2008. The porters and catering 
Department were targeted at this time 

 
 
Issues of Note 
The Occupational Health Department 
became available Monday to Friday again 
in May 2008. 
 
Professional Development 
Attended Spirometry Training Day, St 
James’s Hospital Dublin, 23rd January 
2008 and completed case studies after 
course. 
 
 

____________________ 
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Pathology Department 
 
 

 

Consultant Histopathologist:  
Dr. Peter N. Faul 

Consultant Haematologists:   
Dr. Maeve Leahy (sessional) 
Dr. Denis O’Keeffe (sessional) 

Consultant Microbiologist:   
Dr. Nuala O’Connell (sessional) 

Chief Medical Scientist:    
Mr. Donnacha McCarthy 
 
 
Activity  
Total Biochemistry and Haematology 
patient sample numbers decreased from 
125,072 to 117,388 in 2008.  Most of this 
reduction is accounted for by more 
streamlined laboratory requests in A&E. 
 
Histology patient sample numbers 
increased from 2,255 to 2,347 in 2008. 
 
 
New Services/Quality Initiatives 
Glucometer installed in M.A.U. May 2008 
 
P.O.C.T. HemoCue upgraded in Theatre-
S.O.P. and training near completion. 
 
Results of Inspections 
All analyses in Pathology and Point of 
Care continue to be monitored using 
External Quality Assurance, any 
adjustments required are documented and 
closed out.  
 
External Audits carried out on Glucose and 
Urinalysis P.O.C.T. instruments. 
 
The H.I.Q.A. Continuous Quality 
Improvement and Safety Framework 
(Accreditation) Report commented that:  
‘The interface with the laboratory and its 
users is excellent, with the appropriate 
information technology requirements and 
links’. And: 
‘One issue in relation to the temperature 
in the laboratory was discussed…  
 

 
 
estimates of cost for the provision of air 
conditioning have been obtained and it is 
recommended that this work should 
proceed when resources permit’. 
 
Quality Initiatives 
A central register of Non-Conformances 
was developed during the year.  This will 
allow better analysis and follow up of 
issues across all areas of the Pathology 
service. 
 
Access to write Blood Film comments 
directly into the laboratory information 
system was given to Haematologists in the 
Mid-Western Regional Hospital, to 
eliminate possibility of transcription 
errors. 
 
Delivery and turnaround times for patient 
samples from all hospital areas are 
monitored every quarter.  
 
Handling of P.O.C.T. Non Conformances 
revised (Quarterly reports prepared for 
Risk Management) in order to reduce the 
number of non-conformances with 
P.O.C.T. users. All P.O.C.T. Non 
Conformances referred to Risk 
Management from Feb 2008.   
 
Writing of Standard Operating Procedures 
and the building of a Quality Management 
System continued throughout 2008.  
 
A revised P.O.C.T. Non Conformance 
Report - June 2008. 
 
Reconfiguration of Glucometers to 
facilitate the new Employee ID badges - 
August 2008 
Key Performance Indicators introduced for 
P.O.C.T. Sept 2008.  
 
A collaborative project with A&E to 
streamline the ordering of certain tests was 
carried out. This has resulted in a greater 
that 70% reduction in some analyses and 
an 18% improvement in Turnaround Time. 
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Issues of Note 
Travel restrictions for non-clinical 
activities imposed by the H.S.E. have 
posed challenges in attending education 
and training outside the Hospital. 
Trainings in Safety, P.O.C.T. and External 
Quality Assurance were undertaken in the 
early part of 2008. 
 
The total number of test errors generated 
on Glucometers in 2008 has reduced to 
less than half the 2007 figure.  
 
There were no non conformances noted 
over a 2 week period in October 2008 and 
also in November 08. 
 
Service Plans for 2009 
 A project for scanning request forms is 

planned in 2009.  This will eliminate 
the need for transcription and will 
improve workflow through the 
Laboratory 

 We hope to finalise a Laboratory User 
Manual and make this available on the 
Hospital Intranet 

 Continue to pursue the NOPAS/MRN 
issue 

 Review Clinical Guidelines for the use 
of the PCx Glucometer 

 Review/revise the Standard Operating 
Procedure for Glucose Measurement 
using PCx 

 Revise the current Training day format 
to maximise attendance 

 Revise the PCx Competency Form  
 Reconfigure staff assignment and skills 

mix to address possible 10% reduction 
in Pathology W.T.E. levels   

 Reconfigure staff and skills mix to 
meet challenges to the Pathology 
Department contained in the Acute 
Services Review 

 
 

____________________ 
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Patient Services 
 

 

Clinical Services Co-ordinator: 
Ms. Julie Cotter 

Clinical Support Services Co-ordinator: 
Ms. Breda Ryan 

Patient Service Officer: 
Ms. Paula Cronin 

Medical Records Officer: 
Ms. Lorraine McGregor 
 
 
Activity 
The Patient Services Department continues 
to provide clerical and porter support to all 
patient care areas within the Hospital, 
together with day-to-day service provision.  
 
Introduction of National Healthcare 
Record 
The introduction of the National Hospitals 
Office (N.H.O.) National Healthcare 
Record in 2008 saw the amalgamation of 
the Hospital’s current individual records 
for Day Ward, In-Patient, and Out-Patient 
Department into one record.  The project 
was conducted in line with the N.H.O. 
Code of Practice for Healthcare Records 
Management, and included:- 
 Establishment of Working Group, 

reporting to the Medical Records 
Committee 

 Attendance at National Workshops and 
dissemination of information 

 On-site training 
 Physical merging of exiting medical 

records into national chart 
 Restructure of chart storage in the 

Medical Records Department and other 
areas, including wards, physiotherapy 
etc.  

 Setting up of Staff Signature Bank – 
this was conducted in conjunction with 
the Human Resources Department.  
The Signature Bank is available for use 
by other departments as required, e.g. 
Risk Management Department 

 
 
 
 

 

The merging project will remain on-going 
until it comes to a natural end as a result of 
patient readmissions.  The N.H.O. Code of 
Practice will continue to be implemented, 
monitored and evaluated as part of the 
national initiative. 
 
Introduction of New Porters Roster 
In August 2008, a new Porters roster, 
following agreement by all relevant 
stakeholders, was introduced.  This led to a 
more streamlined portering structure and 
addressed some of the previous roster 
anomalies. 
 
Participation in National Audits 
St John’s took part in the National Out-
Patient Department Audit conducted by 
Meridian on behalf of the N.H.O. in 
October 2008.  The Hospital is actively 
seeking to implement the recommend-
ations and performance improvements 
identified in the Audit Report. 
 
Decontamination Survey Results 
As a result of the National 
Decontamination Audit conducted on 
behalf of the H.S.E. in 2007, the Hospital 
developed an Action Plan to address any 
non-conformances identified in the Report.  
 
Radiology System 
The Hospital introduced a new Radiology 
Information System (R.I.S.) and Picture 
Archiving Communication System 
(P.A.C.S.) which greatly enhanced 
radiology patient service at ward level and 
in the X-Ray Department. 
 
 

____________________ 
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Pharmacy 
 
 
Chief Pharmacist:   
Ms. Geraldine Creaton 

Senior Pharmacist:     
Ms. Bernadette Harnett 

Research Pharmacist:   
Mr. Philip Murphy           

Pharmacy Technician:   
Ms. Sarah Coughlan 

 
Activity 
Warfarin Clinic  
There was a 13.8% increase in Warfarin 
Clinic activity compared with 2007 (3324 
consultations).  This was double the rate of 
increase of the previous year (7%).  
Despite the increased number of patients, 
the 12-month audit of ‘time in therapeutic 
range’ showed a result of 68.4%.  The 
British Society of Haematology sets the 
figure of 60% as achievable for a Warfarin 
Clinic.   
 
Clinical Pharmacy   
Clinical Pharmacy activity in surgery 
continued with the development of patient 
information leaflets in conjunction with 
the Pain Team (CNS Pain Management, 
Anaesthetists) for the first half of 2008.  A 
joint poster between the Pain Team and 
Pharmacy entitled Pain Management in 
Post Operative Patients was presented at 
the World Congress on Pain in Glasgow 
and a paper was prepared for the Journal of 
Pain Management.  However, the Clinical 
Pharmacy Service to surgery patients was 
cut in the latter half of 2008 due to the 
departure of Mr. Philip Murphy to 
complete the remainder of his PhD at 
UCC.  This led to the cessation of 
pharmacist participation in Pain Rounds 
and other surgical patient initiatives.  The 
post remains unfilled due to the 
recruitment embargo.    

 
Antimicrobial Activity 
During 2008, the Department of Pharmacy 
facilitated a UCC MSc student Ms. Carol 
O’Sullivan, to carry out research into anti- 

 
 
microbial usage in the Hospital. Her 
project was entitled ‘A Study of 
Antimicrobial Use in Two Irish Hospitals 
including analysis of IV to Oral Switch’.  
The results of her audit were compared 
with another Irish hospital which lacked 
input from a Clinical Pharmacist.  
Direction was given in the project for the 
next steps to take to further improve IV to 
Oral antibiotic switching for inpatients 
which will be presented to the Drugs & 
Therapeutics Committee.  
 
Dispensary activity  
A small decrease (5.4%) in the number of 
prescription dispensed by the Pharmacy 
was noted.  This compared with a 3.7% 
increase in 2007. A 10% reduction in the 
number of orders placed by the Pharmacy 
also occurred.   
 
Expenditure on Drugs 
Drug expenditure in 2008 was 
approximately equivalent to that of 2007 
(+0.1%).   
 
Quality Initiatives/Improvements 
Pharmacy Students    
The student placement programme to 
facilitate final year undergraduate 
pharmacy student placements took place in 
September 2008. Representatives of all the 
schools of Pharmacy in Ireland 
participated. A further development on this 
was the facilitation and supervision of a 
final year project in conjunction with UCC 
Schools of Pharmacy.  This project looked 
at benzodiazepine usage in Ireland, and 
compared usage at another Irish hospital 
with St John’s Hospital.  The data gathered 
from this research was analysed and 
prepared for presentation to the hospital’s 
Drugs & Therapeutics Committee.  
Involvement in the final year project 
facilitated the carrying out of a valuable 
audit for the Pharmacy.  
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Issues of Note 
Pharmacy Act 2007  
The implementation of the Pharmacy Act 
2007 commenced in 2008.  The new act 
provides for a modern framework for the 
Regulator of Pharmacy, the Pharma-
ceutical Society of Ireland (P.S.I.), and an 
enhanced and modern system of regulation 
of the pharmacy profession.  The 
regulators main functions include the 
inspection of  pharmacy practices and 
enforcement of pharmacy legislation, the 
promote and assurance of high standards 
of education and training, including 
continuing education in pharmacy and the 
carrying out of “fitness to practise” and 
“fitness to operate” for pharmacists and 
pharmacies.   It also oversees the quality 
assurance and application of best practice 
across the sector. Pharmacists, as well as 
the Pharmacy premises were registered 
with the Pharmacy Regulator in 2008.    
 
Medication Safety 
Ms. Geraldine Creaton was elected 
Secretary of the Irish Medication Safety 
Network (IMSN) in 2008.  The I.M.S.N. is 
an independent group of pharmacists and 
other specialists working in the acute 
sector, whose principal aim is to improve 
patient safety with regard to the use of 
medicines through collaboration, shared 
learning and action. 
 
Service Plans for 2009  
 Configure the Pharmacy Service to 

meet the requirements of the Pharmacy 
Act 2007 as the commencement of 
each section of the legislation is rolled 
out by the Pharmaceutical Society of 
Ireland  

 Refurbish Pharmacy Department in 
line with Health & Safety requirements 
to maximise storage facilities 

 Alignment of Pharmacy Service with 
respect to surgical reconfiguration in 
the region  

 Recruitment of an antimicrobial 
pharmacist if recruitment embargo is 
rescinded  

 Replacement of the Clinical/Research 
Pharmacist if recruitment embargo is 
rescinded 

 Update of Prescribers Guide, if 
resources allow 

 
Appointments 
Ms. Karen McInerney-Davis filled a 
temporary Senior Pharmaceutical 
Technician post in 2008.   
 
Retirements/Resignations 
Having completed the data collection 
component of the PhD at St. John’s 
Hospital, Mr. Philip Murphy moved to 
U.C.C. to carry out sample analysis and to 
write-up his research. 
 
 

____________________ 
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Physiotherapy 

 
 
 

Physiotherapy Manager:  
Ms. Martina Ryan  

Senior Physiotherapists  
Ms. Dorothea Tucholski (job-sharing) 
Ms. Carmela Conroy (job-sharing) 
Ms. Eswari Kumar  

Locum Physiotherapist 
Ms. Aleksandra Tomczyk 
 
Activity 
Delivery of quality physiotherapy services 
to in-patients and out-patients again was the 
main objective and resultant activity of this 
department for 2008.  
 
The demand for physiotherapy inpatient 
services remained at a level comparable to 
the previous year, but showed a continuing 
increase in presentation of multi-pathology 
patients with rehabilitation/mobility needs. 
 
The majority of out-patient referrals 
continued to be from Orthopaedic Services 
in the Mid-Western Regional Hospital. 
 
Service demands continued to be met with 
no escalation in waiting lists through 
periods of permanent staff replacement  

 
Special Services 
The specialist physiotherapy service in the 
area of Women’s Health continues to meet 
an increasing demand year on year. 
 
The increase in referral activity from the 
consultant’s private rooms was also 
attributed to the demand for this service. 
 
 

__________________ 
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Radiology 
 
 

 

Temporary Consultant Radiologists: 
Dr. Sean Conway  
Dr. Piotr Nowak  
Dr. George Osler  
Dr. Robert N.W. Davis 

Radiography Services Manager:    
Mr. Liam Murray 
 
 
Activity 
Overall activity levels were fairly flat during 
the year with GP access having to be 
curtailed for a period due to the temporary 
absence of a radiologist. The increase in 
radiography staff has meant that waiting 
lists for general X-ray procedures are now 
practically eliminated. The demand on 
radiologists’ time increased with an increase 
in the number of Barium studies and 
Ultrasound examinations. Excess demand 
for the ultrasound service remains our main 
pressure point.   
 
After several attempts, we successfully 
managed to recruit radiographers to allow 
the C.T. scanner to open but unfortunately 
by the time they could commence work in 
October, the world had changed and 
budgetary restraint came to the fore again. 
 
The Agfa PACS/Mediweb/RIS/VR is now 
available hospital wide but some medical 
staff still do not utilise this excellent system 
fully.  
 
The continued support of all Medical staff 
for the referral guidelines and protocols 
continues to play a key role in enabling us 
to minimise inappropriate examinations 
thereby enabling faster access for all 
medically urgent cases. It also helps reduce 
the reporting burden on the radiologists. 
This approach has been supported by some 
recent commentary in the medical media 
referring to over prescribing of certain 
medicines. We endeavour to concentrate our 
resources on doing examinations that are 
appropriate and minimising or eliminating 
the inappropriate. 

 
 
The A&E department still constitutes the 
largest demand on our services. The 
experience of the medical staffing in A&E 
as always greatly impacts on this source of 
referrals.   
 
 

____________________ 

-44- 



St. John’s Hospital, Limerick  
 

Risk Management 
 

 
Risk Manager: 
Ms. Ellen Ferris 

Deputy Risk Manager/ 
Waste Management Co-ordinator: 
Ms. Maria Liston 
 
Activity 
Accidents/Incidents/Near Misses 
Accidents Incidents and Near Misses 
recorded and followed up to prevent re-
occurrences. Quarterly statistics compiled; 
trends identified and addressed. Full report 
distributed to Strategy Group giving 
detailed information on management of 
Accidents/Incidents. Departmental reports 
distributed to Department Heads. Matters 
of concern considered at Health Safety and 
Security Committee meetings. Suspected 
under-reporting brought to the attention of 
Department Heads. 
 Accidents / Incidents reported to the 

State Claims Agency / Clinical 
Indemnity Scheme and Insurers 

 Claims Management 
 Increased focus on Sharps Awareness 

and safe disposal to prevent 
Needlestick injury 

 
Hazards 
 Hazards recorded and risk assessed 
 Environmental Hazards monitored 
 Outstanding or recurring hazards raised 

at quarterly Health Safety and Security 
Committee meeting 

 Medical Device Alerts circulated 
 Department Heads asked to complete 

Chemical Inventory and to check 
presence of  Safety Data Sheets 

 Various Risk Assessments carried out 
with staff and brought to the attention 
of Department Heads 

 Identification errors (potential) risk 
assessed 

 
Fire 
 Fire Register monitored regularly 
 Spot checks on Fire Evacuation Sheets 

 

 
 
 Fire Training – 11 classroom sessions 

and 4 Practical demonstrations 
including hands-on use of fire 
extinguishers and fire blanket 

 Fire Drill – Pharmacy ; 
Administration; Laboratory; Top Floor 

 Fire inspections and Table-top 
exercises (What if…) A&E; Theatre; 
First Floor 

 
Policies Procedures and Guidelines 
drafted, reviewed/amended during 2008 
 
Training 
 Fire Safety 
 Healthcare Waste 
 NCHD induction training 
 Safety Statement – including Accident 

Incident reporting, Hazard identific-
ation and Risk Assessment 

 Specific training arranged for the two 
Safety Representatives 

Records of attendance of all staff at 
training maintained. Staff due to attend 
training identified and Department Heads 
notified. 
 
Health and Safety Week (13-17 October) 
Health and Safety week addressed such 
issues as Manual Handling; Chemical 
Safety; Dignity at Work; Healthcare Audit 
Training; Blood Borne Viruses; Hand 
Hygiene; Hazard Identification and Risk 
Assessment  
 
Committees 
Risk Management Personnel participate on 
the following Committees: - 
 Audit and Research 
 Blood Transfusion 
 Decontamination  
 Executive Management Team  
 Focus Group 
 Healthcare Records 
 Health Safety and Security 
 Hygiene 
 Infection Control 
 Point of Care 
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 Policies Procedures and Guidelines 
 Project Teams (miscellaneous) 
 Quality  
 Radiation Safety 
 
Quality Initiatives 
 Health and Safety Audit using the 

Safety and Health Audit Tool for the 
Healthcare Sector (Health and Safety 
Authority, 2006) 

 Medication Awareness Week  
 New sign published addressing the 

issue of Verbal Abuse and Violent 
behaviour  

 
Continuous Professional Development 
 Ms. Maria Liston successfully com-

pleted her MSc in Occupational Health 
and Safety Management in Lough-
borough University 

 Ms. Ellen Ferris commenced a 
Graduate Diploma Course in Risk 
Management and Quality in U.C.D. 

 
 

___________________ 
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Activity Statistics   
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St. John’s Hospital, Limerick  
 

Patient Statistics for Year End 31st December 2008 
 
 

IN-PATIENTS AND BED DAYS BY MEDICAL CATEGORY 
 

  PATIENTS  BED DAYS  Average Duration 
 of Stay (Days) 

 CATEGORY 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 

MEDICINE 1,956 2,256 14,679 18,112 7.50 8.03 

SURGERY 1,237 1,288 6,205 6,760 5.02 5.25 

GYNAECOLOGY 429 407 1.032 1,005 2.41 2.47 

TOTAL 3,622 3,951 21,916 25,877 6.05 6.55 

 
 
 

 2008 2007 

TOTAL NUMBER OF IN-PATIENTS TREATED 3,622 3,951 

TOTAL NUMBER OF BED DAYS 21,916 25,877 

PERCENTAGE OCCUPANCY 85.8 86.2 

AVERAGE DURATION OF STAY (DAYS) 6.05 6.55 

 
 
 

THEATRE  2008 2007 

MAIN THEATRES 1,608 1,590 

DAY THEATRES 1,828 1,725 

TOTAL 3,436 3,315 

 
 
 

ACCIDENT & EMERGENCY 2008 2007 

 New Review Total New Review Total 

ACCIDENT & EMERGENCY 
(incl. dressings) 

16,786 1,889 18,675 17,370 1,989 19,359 
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DAY CARE PATIENTS 2008 2007 

GASTROENTEROLOGY 576 467 

GYNAECOLOGY 347 316 

MAXILLO-FACIAL 220 241 

MEDICINE INCLUDING CARDIAC ASSESSMENT 993 846 

MEDICL ASSESSMENT UNIT 1,860 1,463 

PAIN MANAGEMENT  648 557 

SURGERY 1,440 1,389 

TOTAL 6,084 5,279 

  
 
 

OUT-PATIENT CLINICS 2008 2007 

CLINIC ATTENDANCES NEW RETURN TOTAL NEW RETURN TOTAL 

MEDICAL AND CARDIAC 505 3,534 4,039 441 3,555 3,996 

GYNAECOLOGICAL 618 1,497 2,115 553 1,456 2,009 

SURGICAL 1,697 3,683 5,380 1,565 3,604 5,169 

E.N.T. 465 626 1,091 582 669 1,251 

PAEDIATRIC 165 262 427 117 247 364 

PAIN MANAGEMENT 89 308 397 112 251 363 

TOTAL 3,539 9,910 13,449 3,370 9,782 13,152 

 
 
 

PATHOLOGY/PHLEBOTOMY 2008 2007 

Requests In-Pt Out-Pt Total In-Pt Out-Pt Total 

HAEMATOLOGY 17,118 33,408 50,526 17,170 36,762 53,932 

BIOCHEMISTRY 35,491 82,105 117,596 39,212 89,166 128,378 

MICROBIOLOGY 4,166 2,520 6,686 4,921 2,360 7,281 

HISTOLOGY/CYTOLOGY 2,465 260 2,725 2,390 263 2,653 

EXTERNAL TEST 5,247 7,972 13,219 5,117 9,302 14,419 

TOTAL TESTS 64,487 126,265 190,752 68,810 137,853 206,663 

TOTAL NO. OF VENEPUNCTURES 15,088 29,688 44,776 15,874 30,183 46,057 
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PHYSIOTHERAPY  2008 2007 

IN-PATIENT REFERRALS 467 759 

IN-PATIENT TREATMENTS 9,108 12,922 

TOTAL OUT-PATIENT REFERRALS 

 A&E Department 
 MWRH OPD (Pts. initially seen in St. John’s A&E)  
 O.P.D. 
 Consultants Rooms 
 Day Ward and Medical Assessment Unit 
 Others 

387 

79 
113 
89 
66 
27 
13 

399 

92 
117 
76 
39 
39 
36 

OUT-PATIENT TREATMENTS 6,584 8,181 

OUT-PATIENT ATTENDANCES – WOMEN’S HEALTH 272 180 

TOTAL ATTENDANCES 5,172 7,095 

TOTAL TREATMENTS 15,692 21,103 

 
 
 

RADIOLOGY STATISTICS 2008  2007  

BARIUM STUDIES 225 178 

OTHER CONTRASTS 102 76 

ULTRASOUNDS 3,027 2,609 

CHEST/ABDOMEN 10,274 11,341 

SKELETAL 12,106 12,523 

MISCELLANEOUS 2 2 

PORTABLES/THEATRE 559 486 

TOTAL EXAMINATIONS 26,462 27,215 

 
 
 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH 2008 2007 

TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF SEEN 

 Work Related 

 Non-Work Related   

742 

497 

245 

535 

499 

36 

TOTAL FLU VACCINE UPTAKE 

 Front Line Staff 

 Others   

53 

35 

18 

53 

31 

22 

HEPATITIS B VACCINATIONS*   98 143 

PREGNANCY RISK ASSESSMENTS* 13 8 

BLOOD/BODY FLUID EXPOSURE FOLLOW-UP* 13 14 

JOB RISK ASSESSMENTS* 34 255 

SAFETY ISSUES* 11 13 

VDU ASSESSMENTS* 23 21 
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CLINICAL NURSE SPECIALISTS  
 

2008 2007 

CONTINENCE CARE 

In Patients New 

   Review 

 Out Patients New 

   Review 

 

131 

178 

175 

446 

 

186 

614 

192 

545  

DIABETES CARE 

 In Patients  New 

   Review   

 Out Review New 

   Review 

 

96 

623 

75 

1,592 

 

136 

825 

83 

1,573 

PAIN MANAGEMENT  

Post-Operative – Patient Controlled Analgesia   

Post Operative – I.M./Oral Analgesia 

In-Patients - New  

 In-Patients - Review  

 Day Care Unit 

 Out-Patients Clinic 

 Non X-Ray Procedures – M.A.U.     * (Sept. – Dec.) 

 Helpline Calls  

 

176 

370 

80 

165 

378 

397 

258 

923 

 

238 

365 

62 

128 

483 

363 

*86 

960 

RESPIRATORY CARE 

 In Patients New 

   Review   

 Out Patients New 

   Review 

 

216 

580 

312 

1,174 

 

258 

470 

238 

1,073 

TISSUE VIABILITY 

 New Patients  

 Review Patients  

 Total Number of Dressings 

 Number of Pressure Sores – In House 

             External 

 

495 

807 

665 

0 

7 

 

542 

1,271 

634 

1 

7 
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Audited Report and Accounts 
 

 
 
 
 
 

St. John's Hospital 
 

Financial Statements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 The following is a full and true copy of the Audited Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2008. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Hospital Auditors:  Grant Thornton 
     Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors 
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St. John’s Hospital 
General Information 

 
 
 

Address:   St. John’s Square 
    Limerick 
 
 

Main Bankers:  Bank of Ireland 
    94 O’Connell Street 
    Limerick 
 
 
 Auditors:  Grant Thornton 

Chartered Accountants 
                                 & Registered Auditors 
                                 Mill House 
                                 Henry Street  
                                 Limerick 
 

Solicitors:   Dundon Callanan 
 17 The Crescent 
              Limerick 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 

Responsibilities of the Trustees and the Management Committee 

Year ended 31 December 2008 

 

The Trustees are required by the Scheme of Management as approved by the High Court on 26 
November 1989, to keep accurate account of all receipts and payments on behalf of the hospital. 
This function is in practice devolved by the Trustees to the Management Committee. The 
Management Committee is required, in accordance with the guidelines and accounting standards 
issued by the Department of Health & Children, to: 
 
 
(1) Prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the results and state of 

affairs of the hospital, 
 
(2) Select suitable accounting policies which are consistently applied, identify and explain 

any departure from accounting standards, 
 
(3) Make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent, 
 
(4) Safeguard the assets of the hospital and take reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee: 
 
Ralph Keane,  
Board Member/Meeting Chairman 

 

  
John Cummins,  
Acting Chief Executive 

 

  
 
Date:  30 September 2009 

- 57 - 



 

Report of the Auditors to the Board of 

St. John’s Hospital 
 

 
We have audited the financial statements on pages 61 to 75 which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standard Accounting Policy Guidelines for Voluntary Agencies set by the 
Department of Health and Children, (“the Guidelines”), and the accounting policies as set out on 
pages 65 and 66. 
 
Respective Responsibilities of the Trustees, the Management Committee and the Auditors 
As described on page 58, the Trustees and the Management Committee are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements. It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, 
based on our audit, on these statements and to report our opinion to you. 
 
Basis of Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices 
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates 
and judgements made by the Hospital in the preparation of the financial statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are in accordance with the Guidelines and are consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed. 
 
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which 
we considered necessary in order to provide with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Hospital’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its surplus and cash flows for the year then ended and 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health & Children 
Guidelines. 
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose 
of our audit. In our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Hospital. The 
financial statements are in agreement with the books of account. 
 
In our opinion St. John’s Hospital has complied with the regulations of the Prompt Payment of 
Accounts Act 1997. 
 
Grant Thornton,  
Chartered Accountants & Registered Auditors, 
Mill House, 
Henry Street, 
Limerick. 
 
Date: 30 September 2009 
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St. John’s Hospital 

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chairperson 

for the year ended 31 December 2008 

 
 
We certify that the financial statements of Saint John’s Hospital for the year ended 31 
December 2008 as set out herein are in agreement with the books of account and have been 
drawn up in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and with the 
accounting standards as laid down by the Minister for Health & Children. 
 
These financial statements, which comprise pages 61 to 75 and the statement of accounting 
policies, on pages 65 and 66, give the true and fair view of the state of affairs of the hospital 
at 31 December 2008 and of its income and expenditure and cash flow for the year then 
ended. 
 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee: 
 
Ralph Keane,  
Board Member/Meeting Chairperson 

 

  
John Cummins,  
Acting Chief Executive 

 

  
Date:  30 September 2009 
 



 St. John’s Hospital 
 Non - Capital Income and Expenditure Account for the year ended 31 December 2008 

       2008 2007
       €’000 €’000

Cumulative Non-Capital Deficit       

B/F From Previous Year     49 58

        

Pay        

Salaries       21,168 20,902

Superannuation and Gratuities   1,842 1,706

       23,010 22,608

Non-Pay       

Direct Patient Care      3,180 2,865

Support Services      3,318 3,118

Financial & Administrative     1,395 1,713

       7,893 7,696

        
Gross Expenditure for the Year 
Includes deficit from previous year    

30,952 30,362  

        

        

Income       5,283 7,144

         

Net Expenditure for the Year    25,669 23,218  

        

        

Determination from H.S.E.   25,709 23,169  

        

 (Surplus)\Deficit C/F to Following Year   (40)         49
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee: 
 
Ralph Keane,   
Board Member/Meeting Chairperson 

 

  
John Cummins,  
Acting Chief Executive 

 

  
Date:  30 September 2009 
 
 
 

Note: All figures are rounded to the nearest €’000 
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 Capital Income and Expenditure Account for the year ended 31 December 2007 

       2008 2007
       €’000 €’000

Capital Income Sources         

H.S.E.- Capital Grant       540 1,075

H.S.E.- Charge on non-capital Income & Expenditure  35  14

H.S.E.- Non-Capital Repayment of Loan Capital  - -

Fund-raising - Capital only     - 
 

415

EU Grants      - -

Disposal, Net Proceeds of     - -

Other                     -          -

Total Capital Income     575 
 

1,504

         

Capital Expenditure        

Land       - -

Buildings       35 
 

1,033

Work-In-Progress                    - -

Equipment      100       1,843

Vehicles       - -

Other       - -

Capital Expenditure- Capitalised      135 
 

2,876

          

Capital Expenditure-Not Capitalised   442 330

Total Capital Expenditure       577 
 

3,206

         
         

Opening (Surplus) from previous year   (719) 
 

(2,421)
          
Closing (Surplus) to following 
year    (717) (719)
 
On behalf of the Management Committee: 

 

Ralph Keane,  
Board Member/Meeting Chairperson 

 

  
 John Cummins,  
Acting Chief Executive 

 

  
Date:  30 September 2009 
 

Note: All figures are rounded to the nearest €’000
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2008 

      Note 2008 2007
       €’000 €’000

Fixed Assets          

Tangible Assets     12 15,089 
 

16,293

Financial Assets      - -

       15,089 
 

16.293

        

Current Assets         

Debtors      13 3,935      5,921

Stocks      14 313         327

Investments      -             -

Cash in hand and bank balances    824 2  

       5,072      6,250

        

Creditors-Amounts Falling Due Within One Year   

Creditors      15 2,876 3,521

Bank loans and overdraft     1,439 2,059

Obligations under Finance Leases    - -

    4.315 5,580

Net Current Assets    757   670

        

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities   15,846 16,963

         

Creditors-Amounts Falling Due After One Year    

Bank Loans      - -

Obligations under Finance Leases    - -

       - -

Capital & Reserves      

   

Non-Capital Income & Expenditure/ Surplus (Deficit)   40 (49)

Capital Income & Expenditure Surplus   717   719

Capitalisation Account    17 15,089 16,293

       15,846 16,963
Ralph Keane,  
Board Member/Meeting Chairperson 

 

     
John Cummins,  
Acting Chief Executive 

 

 
Date:  30 September 2009 
 
 

Note: All figures are rounded to the nearest €’000
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 Cash Flow Statement as at 31 December 2008 

 
     Note 2008 2007
      €’000 €’000
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 18 1,647 (103)
         
Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance     
Interest Paid on Loans and Overdraft   (5) (5)
Interest paid re Finance Leases    - -
Equity Dividends Received     - -
Interest Received     - -
Net Cash (Outflow) from servicing of Finance (5) (5)
        
Capital Expenditure       
Expenditure from H.S.E. Capital    (135) (2,862)
Add back unpaid Capital Expenditure   - -
Add back movements in finance lease obligations  - -
      (135) (2,862)
Capital Expenditure - Not Capitalised   (442) (330)
Payments from non-capital, re acquisition of fixed assets (198) (99)
Receipts on sale of fixed assets    - -
Net Cash (Outflow) from Capital Expenditure (775) (3,291)
        
Net Cash (Outflow) before Financing  867 (3,399)
        
Financing        
H.S.E. Capital grant received    575 2,445
Receipts from other sources -acquisition of fixed assets - 415
      575 2,860
        
Increase in investments     - -
Capital element of finance lease rental repayments  - -
Cash Inflow from movement in Debt and Lease Financing - -
        
Net Cash Inflow from Financing  575 2,860
        

Net Cash Flow     1,442 (539)

        
Increase / (Decrease) in Cash and Bank  19 822 (5)
Decrease / (Increase)  in Bank Loans < 1 Year & O/D 19 620 (534)
Increase / (Decrease) in Bank Loans > 1 Year 19 - -

Changes in Net Debt     1,442 (539)
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St. John’s Hospital 

Accounting Policies 

 
1.  Basis of Accounting 
 
(i) These accounts were prepared on an accruals basis under the historical cost 

convention, as modified for the valuation of fixed assets, in accordance with the 
accounting standards laid down by the Minister for Health & Children. Those 
standards also provide that the following, should be treated on a receipts and 
payment basis:- EU Funds, Road Traffic Accident Income, Out-Patients Charges and 
minor miscellaneous incomes. 

 
(ii) Grants from the Health Service Executive are the amounts for the year allocated by the 

Executive up to the date of certification of these accounts by the Acting Chief 
Executive Officer. 

 
(iii) The currency used in these financial statements is the Euro denoted by the symbol €. 
 
2.   Fixed Assets 
 
(i) The fixed assets are also included in the balance sheet at cost or valuation, where the 

cost of each individual asset is at least €3,809 (computer equipment at least €1,270) 
and an equivalent credit is included in the balance sheet capitalisation account. 

 
(ii) The basis of valuation of the hospital's fixed assets is as follows: 
 

Land:   As advised by the Department of Health and Children. 
 

Buildings: Valuation or cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
 

Equipment:  Cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
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St. John’s Hospital 

Accounting Policies 

 
3. Fixed Assets and Related Capital Account 

Buildings were revalued at 30 June 2005 by Bruce Shaw and are stated in the accounts at 
the revalued amount.   

Land is stated at 1 April 1981 valuation. 

Plant and Equipment are stated at 31 December 1982 valuation and subsequent additions 
at cost. 

 
In accordance with the guidelines, it is not policy of the hospital to charge depreciation on 
fixed assets to the income and expenditure account. Instead, depreciation, which is 
calculated on fixed assets is matched by an equivalent write down in the Capitalisation 
Account. The following bases and rates apply: 

 
  Land   No Depreciation 
   
  Buildings  2.5% Straight Line 
   
  Equipment  20% Straight Line 
 
4. Stocks 

Stocks are valued at cost. Provision is made, where necessary, for obsolete, slow moving 
and defective stocks. 

 
5. Pension Scheme 

Contributions from employees who are members of the Voluntary Hospitals 
Superannuation Scheme are treated as income in accordance with the requirements of the 
Department of Health & Children. Pension payments under the scheme are charged to the 
Income and Expenditure Account when paid. 

 
6. Bad Debts 

Known bad debts are written off and appropriate provision is made for any debts that 
appear doubtful. 
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 
 
 
Insurance : Note 1      2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Medical Defence          
(a) Consultants      - -
(b) NCHDs      - -
       - -
Other         
Public Liability      50               53
Employers Liability      104               102
Property       33               34
Other       4                 4

       191               193

         
Misc. Non-Capital Expenditure    2008 2007
On Capital Projects : Note 2     €’000 €’000
Land       - -
Buildings       35  14
Work-In-Progress      - -
Equipment      - -
Vehicles       - -
Other       - -

       35 14

         
Miscellaneous Expenses : Note 3    2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Security       249               233
Publications Etc.      18               13
Membership / Subscriptions etc.     - -
Interest on Late Payments     - -
Education / Training      130               150
Shop / Restaurant Purchases                     - -
Other       53               49

       450             445
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Analysis of Patient Income : Note 4    2008 2007
In-Patients       €’000 €’000
Statutory In-Patient Charges     393             400
Private / Semi Private Charges     4,358          4,553
Long Stay Charges      - -
Other In-Patient Charges     3                 4
       4,754          4,957
Out-Patients         
Statutory Accident & Emergency Charges    176               199
Other Out-Patient Charges     - -
       176               199
        

Total Patient Income     4,930          5,156

         
Income From External Agencies : Note 5    2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Laboratory      - -
Pathology      - -
Radiology      - -
Commissioning Services     - -
Other       - -

       - -

         
Other Income (Non-Capital) : Note 6    2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Shop / Restaurant Sales     - -
Car Parking      - -
Public Telephones      -                 1
Pharmacy / stores sales - Staff & Patients    - -
Recoverables      - -
Insurance Claims      - -
Fas Grants      - -
Rents / Licences / Franchises     7                 8
PP Admin. Charges      - -
Fund Raising - Non-Capital only     - -
Sundries       (738)             1,008
Equity Dividend Received     - -
Interest received      - -

       (731)             1,017
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Summary Pay Analysis (Memorandum Only)   2008 2007
Note 7       €’000 €’000
Basic Pay      16,261 15,658
Overtime       971 954
Premium Pay      859 844
Shift Allowance      - -
Holiday / Public Holiday Premiums    176 215
Higher Degree      26 15
Special Nursing      120 109
On call / Standby      521 518
PRSI Employer      1,475 1,471
Travel Allowance      3 -
Other       2,598 2,824

       23,010 22,608  

         
Reconciliation of Expenditure to Cost of     2008 2007
Services (Memorandum Only) : Note 8    €’000 €’000
           
Net Expenditure - Current Year     25,670        23,218
Deduct         
Purchase of Equipment  from Non-Capital    198                 85
Funding of Capital Projects from Non-Capital    35  14
Loan Repayments - Principal Only  
Depreciation on Disposal    14 -
Total Deductions      247                 99
         
Sub-Total      25,423        23,119
Add-Back        
Depreciation charge for Year     1,551             1,536

Running Cost of Service     26,974        24,655

         
Road Traffic Accident (Memorandum    2008 2007
Only) : Note 9      €’000 €’000
           
Balance at 1 January     40               40
Bills Issued in Respect of the Year    - -
Less Cash Received during the Year    - -
Less Waivers and other Write-Offs    - -

Balance at 31 December     40               40
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Statement of Advances & Balances Due From   2008 2007
H.S.E. Non-Capital & Capital : Note 10    €’000 €’000
Non-Capital          
Total notified non-capital determination for the year   25,709 23,169
Less: Remittances from H.S.E. Non-Capital in the year   (23,571) (22,650)
Balance due from H.S.E. in respect of the year   2,138 519
         
Balance due from H.S.E. re previous year @ 1 Jan   2,608           2,089
Less: Remittances from H.S.E. in year re:previous year   (2,608)          -
Balance due from H.S.E. re previous year @ 31 Dec   - 2,089
        
Total Balance of Approved Non-Capital      

Determinations Due From H.S.E.    2,138 2,608

Capital         
Total Capital Grants notified by H.S.E. for the year   540 1,075
Less: Remittances from H.S.E. Capital in the year   (540) (1,075)
Balance due from H.S.E. in respect of the year   - -
         
Balance due from H.S.E. re previous year @ 1 Jan.   - 1,356
Less: Remittances from H.S.E. in year re:previous year      (1,356)
Balance due from H.S.E. re previous year @ 31 Dec   - -
        

Total Balance of Capital Grants Due From H.S.E.    - -

        

Gross Total Due From H.S.E. Capital & Non-Capital  2,138 2,608
 
Purchase of Equipment and Vehicles From   2008 2007
Non-Capital Account (Capitalised) : Note 11   €’000 €’000
Other Medical Equipment     198 -
X-Ray / Imaging Equipment     - 11
Laboratory Equipment     - -
Catering Equipment      - -
Laundry Equipment      - -
Maintenance Equipment     - -
Farm & Garden Equipment     - -
Computer Equipment      - 74
       198 85
Vehicles Purchased      - -
       198 85
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

            Schedule of Fixed Assets  
 and  
            Depreciation : Note 12  Land 

Buildin
gs Work-In 

Equipmen
t Total 

      Progress     

    €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

              

            Cost Or Valuation at  
     
      1-Jan-08 159 14,114           - 10,172 24,445

 Transfers from Work-In-Progress -   -            - - -
 Sub-Total   159 14,114   10,172 24,445
              
 Additions From Capital  -    35 - 100   135
 Additions From Non-Capital - - - 222 222
 Disposals during the year  - -     - (24)  (24)
 Revaluations   - - - - -
 Cost / Valuation at 31-Dec-08 159 14,149 - 10,470 24,778
         
         

   Accumulated Depreciation  
 at 1-Jan-08 - 806 - 7,346 8,152

            Depreciation charge for year  - 354 - 1,197 1,551
            Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation - - - (14) (14)
            Accumulated Depreciation  
 at 31-Dec-08 - 1,160 - 8,529 9,689
         
         

            Net Book Amount at 1-Jan-08 159 13,308   - 2,826 16,293

       

            Net Book Amount at 31-Dec-08 159 12,989 - 1,941 15,089

      

           Valuation of Fixed Assets      
Messrs. Louis De Courcy Ltd., Auctioneers, completed Professional valuations of fixed 
assets as follows:                                                             €                   

  

 Land & Building  01/04/1981    4,114,581                     
   

 Plant & Equipment  31/12/1982       808,620 
 

Bruce Shaw completed an Insurance Reinstatement valuation of buildings at 30 June 2005 
 as follows: 
 

 Building   30/06/2005  29,322,569 
Valuation based on remaining useful life  12,007,464 
The revision of the amounts stated was made to comply with the requirements of the 

 Department of Health and Children. Subsequent additions under the various headings 
 are stated at cost.  In  accordance with Department of Health and Children instructions.  
 Land has been valued at the  rate per acre advised by the Department. 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Debtors : Note 13      2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
H.S.E. - Revenue Grants Due     2,138 2,608
H.S.E. - Capital Grants Due     - -
H.S.E. Debtors      2,138     2,608
          
H.S.E. Mid-West       43       1,485
          
Patients (Closing Ledger Balance)     2,419     2,881
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts    (1,036) (1,194)
Other       20          26
Prepayments      351         115
Non-H.S.E. & Non-H.S.E. Mid-West Debtors    1,754    1,828
         

Total Debtors      3,935     5,921

         
Stocks - Note 14      2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
Drugs & Medicines      123          127
Blood & Blood Products     - -
Medical Gases      - -
Medical & Surgical Supplies     172        181
Sterile Supplies      - -
Pathology Supplies      - -
X-Ray / Imaging      4            4
Provisions      - -
Laundry / Cleaning      3            4
Bedding / Clothing      - -
Furniture / Crockery      -           -
Heat / Power / Light Supplies     - -
Maintenance Supplies      1            1
Office Supplies      10            10
Computer Supplies      - -
Shop       - -

       313        327
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Creditors - Note 15      2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
Creditors - Capital      - -
Creditors - Non-Capital     371 619
PAYE and PRSI      494 451
Wages and Salaries      1,103 971
Other         908 1,480

       2,876     3,521
 
Bank Loans - Greater Than One Year : Note 16   2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
Bank Loans      - -
Deficit Bank Loan Account     - -
Deficit Financing Account     - -
       - -
         
Capitalisation Account : Note 17     2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
Balance at beginning of year     16,293        14,883
Additions        
Capital Expenditure      135        2,877
Non-Capital Expenditure     222          85
Sub-Total Additions      357       2,962
         
Less         
Disposals      10 15
Depreciation for the year     1,551           1,537
Sub-Total Deductions     1,561           1,552
        
Balance at year-end     15,089        16,293
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Note To The Cash Flow Statement : Note 18    2008 2007
       €'000 €'000
Surplus/ (Deficit) Non-Capital      40 (49)
Add back Deficit brought forward    49   58
Surplus for current year     89      9
Deduct repayment of loan (Capital element) charged     
against non-capital      - -
Deduct Interest and Dividend Income     - -
Add back purchase of equipment from non-capital    198         85
Add back Interest charged against non-capital    5             5
Decrease/(Increase) in Stocks     14 (10)
Decrease/(Increase) in H.S.E. Debtors (Non-Capital)        470 (519)
Decrease/(Increase) in H.S.E. Mid-West Debtors    1,442 (540)
Decrease in Non-H.S.E. and Non-H.S.E. Mid-West    74 285
(Decrease)/Increase in Creditors    (645) 582

Net Cash inflow (outflow) from Operating Activities   1,647 (103)
 
Analysis of Changes in Net   At 1 Cash Non Cash At 31
Debt : Note 19    Jan '08 Flow Changes Dec '08

     €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Cash in Hand and Bank Balances               2 822 - 824
Bank Overdraft    (2,059)       620 - (1,439)
     (2,057) 1,442 - (615)
Bank Loans      
Debt Due within one year   - - - -
Debt Due after one year   - - - -
     - - - -
       
Finance Leases : within one year   - - - -
Finance Leases : from 2 to 5 years   - - - -
     - - - -
      

     (2,057) 1,442 - (615)
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

Reconciliation of Net Cash inflow to     2008 2007
Movement in Net Debt : Note 20     €'000 €'000
           
Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year    1,442 (539)
Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from increase/(decrease) in      
debt and lease financing     - -
Changes in net debt resulting from cash flow    1,442 (539)
New Finance Leases taken out in the year    - -
Changes in Net Debt      1,442 (539)
Net Debt at beginning of year     (2,057) (1,518)

Net Debt at end of year     (615) (2,057)
 
 
Bank Security : Note 21 
There is a Letter of Understanding dated 22 September 2008 from the Commissioners of 
Charitable Donations and Bequests for Ireland in which they sanctioned the Hospital’s 
borrowing requirements for the year ended 31 December 2008. 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 The following pages do not form part of the Audited Financial Statements. 
  The details provided are for information purposes only. 
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 
Non-Capital Income & Expenditure - Details     
       2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Pay           
Management / Administration     3,247      3,173
Medical / Dental I (NCHDs)             2,647      2,577
Medical / Dental II (Consultants)     2,770      2,492
Nursing      7,716      7,881
Paramedical     1,856 1,706
Catering & Housekeeping / Support Services    2,804 2,939
Maintenance / Technical     128           134
       21,168    20,902
          
Pensions & Refunds      1,635      1,519
Gratuities / Lump Sums     207         187
Others       - -
       1,842      1,706
         

       23,010    22,608

Non-Pay        
Direct Patient Care       
Drugs & Medicines      859         858
Blood & Blood Products                315         256
Medical Gases      46           43
Medical & Surgical Supplies     1,175         1,193
Other Medical Equipment     198              -
Other Medical Equipment Supplies / Contracts On   587         515
       3,180      2,865
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St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 

       2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Support Services          
X-Ray / Imaging Equipment                  - 11
X-Ray / Imaging supplies / Contracts On    142 84
Laboratory Equipment     - -
Laboratory Supplies / Contracts On    951 938
Catering Equipment      - -
Catering Provisions / Contracts On    252 247
Heat, Power & Light      277 234
Laundry , Cleaning & Washing Equipment    - -
Laundry , Cleaning & Washing Supplies / Contracts On   779 706
Furniture, Crockery & Hardware     47 51
Bedding & Clothing      14 19
Maintenance Equipment     - -
Maintenance Materials Supplies / Contracts On   729 681
Farm & Garden Equipment     - -
Farm Supplies / Contracts On     2 3
Travel & Subsistence      125 144
Transport of Patients      - -
Vehicles Purchases      - -
Vehicles Supplies / Contracts On     - -
       3,318        3,118
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
 
 

Financial And Administrative     2008 2007
       €’000 €’000
Loan Repayment Principal         
Non-Capital      - -
Capital       - -
Finance Lease Repayment-Principal Element    - -
         
Bank Interest        
Overdraft       2 2  
Non-Capital Loan      - -
Capital Loan      - -
Finance Lease Repayment-Interest Element    - -
Bank Charges      3               3
         
Other         
Insurance - Medical Defence     - -  
Insurance - Other      191           193
Audit       15             12
Legal       6            -8
Office Expenses (Rent & Rates, Postage, Phone)   126             124
Office Supplies / Contracts On     335           370
Computer Equipment       -               74
Computer Supplies / Contracts On    337              314
Professional Services      44              12
Bad Debts written off      9             -16
Adjustment to Doubtful Debts Provision    -158             174
Misc. Non-Capital Exp. on Capital Projects    35  14
Miscellaneous Expenses                450             445
       1,395          1,713
        

Total Non-Pay      7,893          7,696
        

Total Gross Expenditure     30,903        30,304
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 St. John’s Hospital 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements – 31 December 2008 
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       2008 2007
Income       €’000 €’000
Patient Income          
In-Patient       4,754          4,957
Out-Patient      176              199
       4,930          5,156
Other Income        
Superannuation      980             867
Other Payroll Deductions     - -
RTA Receipts      -                 -
Income from External Agencies     - -
Canteen Receipts      104               104
Other Income (Non-Capital)     (731)             1,017
Total Income      5,283          7,144
        

Net Expenditure      25,621        23,160
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